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Video footage
Some of the information presented in this report is supported by video footage. 
You can access this footage by clicking the links (if you are viewing the digital 
version of this report) or scanning the QR codes using your smartphone or tablet.

You can download a free QR code reader by visiting the Google Play Store 
(Android) or the Apple App Store (iOS).

eMedia Holdings Limited (eMedia Holdings) 
presents this integrated annual report for the year 
ended 31 March 2019. This report aims to provide 
stakeholders with a comprehensive overview of the 
group, highlighting its financial performance and its 
social, environmental and economic impact during 
this period.

As eMedia Holdings is a Johannesburg Stock 
Exchange (JSE) listed company, the board of 
directors and management prescribe to the 
principles of integrated reporting, which guide the 
group as it provides insight into all the business 
practices that have a material influence on the 
group’s long-term sustainability and value. 

Reporting guidelines
The extracted financial information from eMedia 
Holdings’ audited annual financial statements for 
the year ended 31 March 2019 has been quoted 
correctly in the integrated annual report.

In an effort to enhance the value of the information 
provided by this report, over the next two years 
the group intends to closely align this integrated 
report with the latest King Report on Corporate 
GovernanceTM for South Africa, 2016 (King lV)*. 
The updated guidelines aim to give an even greater 
insight into an organisation’s value creation process, 
focusing on transparency. 

Future reports will detail the group’s use of the six 
capitals: financial capital, manufactured capital, 
intellectual capital, human capital, social and 
relationship capital, and natural capital and how 
it leverages these capitals to create value for 
stakeholders.

This report aligns with the requirements of 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS), the Companies Act of South Africa, 71 of 
2008, as amended (the Companies Act), the JSE 

Listings Requirements and the guidance provided 
in the Integrated Reporting Committee of South 
Africa’s Framework for Integrated Reporting 
and the Integrated Reporting Discussion Paper 
(Framework) 2013.

Assurance
The annual financial statements included in this 
report have been audited by independent auditors, 
BDO South Africa Incorporated. The broad-based 
black economic empowerment (BBBEE) information 
in the sustainability report has been verified by 
EmpowerBEE. The carbon footprint information 
for the CDP was compiled with the assistance of 
IBIS Consulting.

Forward-looking statements
This report contains certain forward-looking 
statements which relate to the financial position 
of the operations of the group and its underlying 
investments. These statements by their nature 
involve risk and uncertainty as they relate to events 
and depend on circumstances that may occur in 
the future. These forward-looking statements have 
not been reviewed or reported on by the group’s 
independent auditors.

We welcome any feedback and queries related to 
the information presented in this report. Please send 
an email to info@emediaholdings.co.za with your 
comments and questions.

The directors collectively confirm that they have 
reviewed the content of this report and believe that 
it fairly represents the integrated performance of 
the group and addresses all the material issues that 
are relevant for key stakeholder.

This integrated annual report was approved by the 
eMedia Holdings board on 29 July 2019.

* Copyright and trademarks are owned by the Institute of Directors in Southern Africa NPC and all of its rights are reserved.
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in South African-based media group eMedia 
Investments Proprietary Limited (eMedia 
Investments). eMedia Investments has a number 
of core assets in the television (TV) and radio 
broadcasting sector, with additional assets in the 
content, properties and facilities sectors.

eMedia Investments continues to be a significant 
media player in southern Africa and the rest of the 
continent with influential independent broadcasters 
that reach millions of people. 

e.tv, South Africa’s first and only free-to-air 
commercial TV station, continues to garner a 
significant audience share of the free-to-air 
audience. The channel’s reach extends beyond 
our borders in the form of eAfrica, a repackaged 
version of the channel, which is broadcast across the 
continent. The success of e.tv has also spawned a 
number of spin-off entertainment channels which 
sit on the DStv, OpenView and DTT platforms.

eSat.tv operates the 24-hour eNews Channel 
Africa (eNCA), which is available on DStv and has 
consistently commanded more than 50% of the 
available news audience. eNCA also boasts an 
impressive online offering, which includes a mobile 
app and a responsive website.

Platco Digital operates OpenView, a free-to-air 
satellite TV platform, which broadcasts a number 
of channels, including e.tv’s multi-channel offering: 
eMovies, eMovies Extra, eExtra, eReality and eToonz.

The company’s content division consists of a 
handful of companies that have interests in the 
publishing, content creation and distribution, 
and music. Our properties and facilities division is 
primarily concerned with providing appropriate 
solutions for media companies. Companies 
like Media Film Service, the Cape Town Film 
Studios and Moonlighting Films have continued 
to facilitate some of the world’s leading films, 
commercials and TV series.

In line with its strategic decision to invest in its core 
broadcasting and content-focused operations, the 
group has continued to exit non-core operations 
during the period under review.

Our business philosophy
Through focused and ethical management of its 
assets, the group strives to create long-term value 
for all of its stakeholders through the broadcast of 
local and international entertainment programming 
as well as news and information programming. 
A multi-channel and multi-platform strategy 
enables the group to provide valuable advertising 
opportunities for marketers.

Our goal is to provide shareholders with a return on 
their investment, while empowering citizens through 
job creation and adding value to the communities 
we operate in. This is reflected in the integrated way 
in which we measure our success as a group. As a 
media group, we have the privilege of being able 
to use our technology, infrastructure and platforms 
to assist South African businesses and non-profit 
organisations. 

As we navigate the ever-changing media landscape, 
we seek innovative and creative solutions to 
the business challenges facing the group while 
complying with all relevant regulatory and legal 
requirements, practising good governance and 
being responsible corporate citizens.

Ownership
eMedia Holdings owns a 67.7% stake in eMedia 
Investments. The balance of eMedia Investments’ 
shares is held by Venfin Media Beleggings 
Proprietary Limited (Venfin). 

eMedia Holdings’ major shareholder is JSE listed 
Hosken Consolidated Investments (HCI). HCI is a 
black empowerment investment holding company 
which counts the South African Clothing and Textile 
Workers Union (SACTWU) as its major shareholder. 
With over 100 000 workers, SACTWU is the largest 
trade union in the clothing, textile, leather and 
footwear industry in the world. 
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es Broadcasting
e.tv

eSat.tv

Platco Digital

Yired (YFM)

Content
Jacana Media

Crystal Brook Distribution

Properties and facilities
Silverline Three Sixty

• Media Film Service, Moonlighting Films, 
Searle Street Post Production and Reel Pay TV

Cape Town Film Studios

Sasani Africa

Sabido Properties

Dreamworld Management Company

eMedia Holdings integrated annual report 2019 5
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Headline earnings/(loss) per share (cents)

2019 

2018*

2017*

2016*

2015*

2014*

2013 29.00

41.07

7.33

22.01

13.45

(1.20)

(2.81)

0.96

0.73

* Restated

Performance highlights
    2019 % change 2018*

Revenue R’000  2 405 548 3.8  2 318 357 

EBITDA R’000  321 289 39.0  231 165 
Profit before tax R’000  174 367 111.2  (1 553 549)
Headline earnings R’000  59 675 578.3  (12 477)
Headline earnings per share Cents  13.45 578.6  (2.81)
Headline earnings per share – continuing operations Cents  15.83 703.6  1.97 
Net asset carrying value per share Cents  1 038 1.1  1 027 

*Prior year restated for discontinued operations.
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Headline earnings/(loss) (R’000)

2019 

2018*

2017*

2016*

2015*

2014*

2013 20 040

169 378

32 199

98 039

59 675

(1 077)

(12 477)

0.73

* Restated

Seven-year review

* Restated.
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Share price – N ordinary (cents)

1 540

3 150

1 740
1 200

1 910
1 090
1 090

1 250
434

590

665
362

550

640
250
273

0
0
212

960
1 200

1 369

1 384

1 038

2 200

1 027

2019 

2018*

2017*

2016*

2015*

2014*

2013 

High Low At year-end
* Restated

Shares in issue (000)

68 531
68 289

88 401
118 694

412 400
431 821

439 408
431 821

445 359
444 597

444 481
444 152

443 675
443 3542019 

2018*

2017*

2016*

2015*

2014*

2013 

Average At year-end

* Restated

Share price – ordinary (cents)

1540

3 200

2 000
1 160

1 980
1 360

1 450

1 460
786

950

1 200
633

769

769
262
300

300
300
300

860
1200

1 369

1 384

1 038

2 200

1 027

2019 

2018*

2017*

2016*

2015*

2014*

2013 

High Low At year-end
* Restated

Net asset carrying value per share net of 
treasury shares (cents)

2 010

1 369

1 384

1 038

2 200

1 027

1 406

2019 

2018*

2017*

2016*

2015*

2014*

2013 

* Restated

* Restated.
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Directors’ profile

JA (John) Copelyn (69)
Chairperson
BA Hons, BProc

Non-executive chairperson

 

John joined HCI as chief 

executive officer in 1997. 

Prior to this he was a member 

of Parliament and general 

secretary of the Southern 

African Clothing and Textile 

Workers Union. He holds 

various directorships including 

Platinum Group Metals 

Limited. He is chairman of 

Deneb Investments (Deneb), 

Niveus Investments, Tsogo 

Sun Hotels (TSH), Tsogo Sun 

Gaming (TSG) and the HCI 

Foundation. He was appointed 

to the eMedia Holdings board 

in May 2005. 

MK (Khalik) Sherrif (58)
Chief executive officer
BA (UHDE), BEd, MBA, CM(SA)

Executive

 

Khalik has well over 25 years 

of extensive media sales 

experience. He enjoyed a 

successful career in the radio 

industry – occupying various 

roles at Radio Lotus (rebranded 

Lotus FM under his tenure) 

and then at the broader 

SABC Radio group – where he 

eventually became national 

sales manager. He later worked 

as national sales manager of 

Multichoice SA, before joining 

the eMedia group in 2002 

as sales and trade marketing 

director. He became the 

group’s chief commercial 

officer in 2008.

He was appointed to the  

board on 13 November 2018 

and then became the chief 

executive officer on  

30 November 2018.

AS (Antonio) Lee (46)
Financial director
BCom (Acc), PGDA, CA(SA)

Executive

 

Antonio is the financial director 

of eMedia Holdings and chief 

financial officer of eMedia 

Investments. He has over  

15 years’ post-article 

experience, including over 

10 years’ experience in 

the media sector. He was 

appointed to the eMedia 

Holdings board in  

December 2014.

TG (Kevin) Govender (48) 
BCom Hons, BCompt Hons

Non-executive

 

 

Kevin joined HCI in 1997 and 

was appointed chief financial 

officer in 2001. He served as 

acting chief executive officer 

of eMedia Holdings and 

eMedia Investments from 

2014 to 2017. He also serves 

on the boards of Deneb and 

Hosken Passenger Logistics 

and Rail Limited (HPL&R). 

He was appointed to the 

eMedia Holdings board in 

October 2008.
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RD (Rachel) Watson (60) 
Independent  
non-executive

 

 

Rachel served as manager at 

a regional broadcaster. Prior 

to this appointment she was 

employed for 33 years within 

the clothing industry, serving 

as a trade union representative 

and national media officer. 

She is a director of HPL&R, HCI, 

TSH and Hospitality Property 

Fund. She was appointed to 

the eMedia Holdings board in 

August 2009.

L (Loganathan) 
Govender (71)
BCom, CTA, CA(SA)

Lead independent  
non-executive

Loganathan manages his 

own auditing firm in Durban, 

which is one of South Africa’s 

oldest black-owned auditing 

practices. He also serves on 

the board of HPL&R. He was 

appointed to the eMedia 

Holdings board in April 2015.

VE (Elias)  
Mphande (61)
Independent non-
executive

 

Elias has served as national 

organising secretary of the 

Southern African Clothing  

and Textile Workers Union,  

CEO of AUTA and of the 

Vukani Group and chairperson 

of Golden Arrow Bus Services. 

He is a director of TSG 

and chairperson of HCI. 

He was appointed to the 

eMedia Holdings board in 

December 2014.

Y (Yunis) Shaik (61)
BProc

Non-executive

 

 

Yunis was appointed to the 

board on 3 July 2018. He is an 

executive director of HCI. Prior 

to his appointment at HCI, he 

was an attorney of the High 

Court and served as a senior 

commissioner to the CCMA in 

KwaZulu-Natal. He serves on 

the boards of TSG, Deneb and 

Niveus and is chairperson of 

HPL&R.
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Although TV revenue has shown negative 
growth of 4% in the past year, eMedia has 
gone against the trend and recorded a 4% 
year-on-year growth. This growth in revenue 
is underpinned by real growth in e.tv and 
OpenView, and a strong performance by 
eNCA, in the face of increased competition 

in the news genre.

In March 2019, e.tv grew to hold an 
audience share of 19.2% in prime 
time, from 15% in March 2018, and 
still maintains its position of being 
the second most watched channel in 
the country. 

The flagship shows, Scandal and 
Rhythm City, have maintained their 
viewership throughout the fiscal year. 
Scandal reached a high of 6 million 
viewers in both August 2018 and 

March 2019, which has been a great 
achievement for the channel. Rhythm City 

has also maintained its viewership of over 
4 million viewers in 2018/2019. 

In April 2018, the new local drama, Imbewu, 
launched on e.tv and has since been a top 
performing show in its timeslot. It grew from 
under 2 million viewers to a high of over 
4.4 million viewers at 21:30 on week nights. 
Imbewu has created a new peak in the South 
African daily viewership pattern and continues 
to make the channel proud. The maintenance 
of peak performance in audience generation 
sees the introduction of a new drama, Isipho, 
which will be shown in the daily 18:30 slot.

In May 2018, e.tv decided to outsource the 
production of The Morning Show, which was 
previously Sunrise. The show has since gone 
through restructuring and many changes 
to ensure that the morning viewers are kept 
engaged and entertained.

As will be evident in the financials of this integrated annual report, 
the business of eMedia is on the road to profitable recovery, after 
a few stagnant years, mainly due to its investment in OpenView. 

OpenView is South Africa’s first free satellite TV service.



eMedia Holdings Integrated Annual Report 2019 11

February 2019 saw e.tv venturing into a new direction when it 
partnered with international streaming service, Vui. The channel 
has made some of its local content available on the platform 
and has high hopes for the future of this partnership. 

At the end of March 2019, the overall group audience share 
for OpenView was 7.25% and OpenView was available in 
over 1 570 000 households, having started the year on just 
over 1.1 million households. The advertising revenue on 
the OpenView platform has increased by 118.6% from the 
previous fiscal year. 

2018 was a big year for OpenView where many strategic 
channel changes were made. At the end of August, Star Life, a 
channel out of the Star TV group, was introduced as a part of 
the OpenView offering. 

One of the successes over the past year was the addition of 
the eExtra Afrikaans block, which has Afrikaans-dubbed Turkish 
telenovelas that reached a peak of over 320 000 viewers at the 
end of March 2019. 

In November 2018, OpenView launched Open News, a 
local news channel, to the platform. Local news is broadcast 
from 16:00 to 20:00 daily, and outside of that Open News 
has partnered with international broadcasters who provide 
international content to the viewers. 

eReality was launched in November 2018 and has gained huge 
viewership since its inception. OpenView is at present scouting 
for more content that will bring value to the offering. 

OpenView is set for an operational break-even point within the 
next 24 months.

eNCA has seen a 3% increase in revenue from April 2018 to 
March 2019, which is a positive sign for the eMedia group. 
The channel is still ranked the most watched news channel 
in the country.



In July 2018, eNCA went through an overall change 
where the channel refreshed its logo, its line-up, 
studios, as well as its presenters. The channel is now 
represented in a sophisticated and fresh format, yet 
still maintaining its No Fear No Favour positioning. 

Certain of the group’s other subsidiaries have 
performed satisfactorily for the year. These include 
Sasani Africa and Moonlighting, while other assets 
have underperformed but shown improvement 
towards the latter part of the financial year. 
Management continues to review non-core and 
peripheral businesses and will exit these businesses 
when opportunities present themselves. To this end, 
certain assets such as The Refinery Johannesburg 
and MovieMart were closed. Other non-core assets 
were sold during the year and include Da Vinci 
Learning, Coleske Artists, Afrikaans is Groot and 
Strika Entertainment.

The TV market is facing numerous technology and 
viewership challenges, which will require the group 
to continually assess its strategic alternatives. The 
investment in OpenView provides the group with 
strategic flexibility and is part of the plan to address 
the challenges of the impending digital migration 
transition. Government is continuously engaged 
on its DTT and DTH plans. With the sale and the 
closure of certain non-core assets during the year, 
the group is now focused on its core businesses of 
broadcasting, content creation and being a platform 
and technology provider. 

Mahomed Khalik Sherrif
Chief executive officer

29 July 2019

Chief executive officer’s report continued

eMedia Holdings integrated annual report 201912
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e.tv
e.tv has established itself as a strong independent entertainment and current affairs TV 
channel, producing a number of local shows that have captivated South African audiences. 
2018 saw the introduction of a new daily local drama called Imbewu: The Seed. As of March 
2019, Imbewu had an increase of 73% in total viewers since its launched.

e.tv continues to invest in local programming and consistently exceeds the regulated 45% local content 
quota obligation. Popular daily dramas, Rhythm City and Scandal’s audience grew by 16.3% and 14% 
respectively. The 18:00 to 22:00 prime time block increased by 28% against all adults, by 26.5% against 
adults LSM 5-7 and by 18.3% against adults LSM 8-9.

e.tv has also become well-known for its range of international content. Realising that South African audiences 
want to enjoy the best blockbusters and series, the channel has established well-loved blockbuster movie and 
series slots.

The e.tv weekend prime time movie slots remain under pressure from local programming and special local 
events on competitor channels. The two prime time movie slots did however manage to increase slightly with 
Saturdays increasing by 2.6% and Sundays increasing by 0.8%. 

eMovies and eMovies Extra remain the most watched movie channels in the country. Both channels have 
benefited from new movie acquisitions and grew between 22% and 33%.

We launched an Afrikaans programming block on eExtra towards the end of 2018 which, along with the added 
content from eBella which closed in March 2019, has increased the viewership on the channel by 120%.
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e.tv multi-
channel and 
OpenView
The e.tv multi-channels 

continue to add new and entertaining 
programming which appeals to a broad 
range of South African audiences.

We successfully launched eReality in 
November 2018. This channel is only 
available on OpenView and already 
ranks as one of the most popular reality 
channels in South Africa. 
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eSat.tv
eSat.tv produces eNCA, the country’s most 
watched TV news channel which is operating 

in an increasingly competitive environment. eSat.tv also offers daily live 
news bulletins in English on e.tv and in Afrikaans on kykNET (on DStv). Both 
of those services showed healthy growth.

During the 2019 financial year, eNCA’s audience share was 50.63% – a 
year-on-year increase of 1.2%.

eNCA, now in its 11th year, completed a major restructure and this resulted 
in a tighter and more focused product being produced. Studios were 
redesigned and technically upgraded and the on-air look is fresher and 
more compelling. The combined news services also successfully reported 
the 2019 general election. 

The eNews bulletin on e.tv for Monday to Friday at 20:00 grew its ratings 
by 9% and averaged an audience of 960 000 which was up by 22% from 
the previous fiscal year. The eNuus bulletin grew its audience by 5% to 
268 000. 

eNCA.com makes the eSat.tv news offering platform-agnostic, engaging 
viewers online through its desktop website, mobile apps and services, 
and catering to the public’s need for immediate and breaking news on 
multiple platforms. eNCA.com achieved 2.8 million unique browsers in 
March 2019 – down 5% year-on-year. The channel’s Twitter account,  
@eNCA, had 1.83 million followers – up 350 000 followers  
and Facebook account eNCA News had 1.44 million  
followers up 167 000 followers. 

In a tough advertising environment, revenue showed an increase of 2.6% 
for the financial year. 

Looking forward, the news operation is gearing up for a move to a new 
building and its switch over to high definition broadcasting. The station is 
relooking at its brand positioning and developing a new marketing strategy 
that will be rolled out in coming months. The combined news operation 
developed a three-year strategy that demonstrates how the station will 
grow its audience share and increase advertising revenue. 

Company reports continued
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Analysis of shareholders extracted from the register of ordinary 
and N ordinary shares at 31 March 2019
Range of holdings

Ordinary shares

Share range
Number of 

shareholders
% of 

shareholders
Number of 

shares
% of issued 

capital

1 – 1 000 731 72.30 94 679 0.15
1 001 – 5 000 124 12.27 338 848 0.53
5 001 – 50 000 120 11.87 1 673 899 2.62
50 001 – 100 000 11 1.09 805 749 1.26
100 001 and over 25 2.47 60 897 069 95.44

1 011 100.00 63 810 244 100.00

N ordinary shares

Share range
Number of 

shareholders
% of 

shareholders
Number of 

shares
% of issued 

capital

1 – 1 000 539 58.52 86 332 0.02
1 001 – 5 000 140 15.20 391 154 0.10
5 001 – 50 000 185 20.09 2 541 219 0.67
50 001 – 100 000 15 1.63 999 007 0.26
100 001 and over 42 4.56 377 909 647 98.95

921 100.00 381 927 359 100.00

Beneficial shareholders holding 5% or more of ordinary shares

Shareholder
Number of 

shares
% of issued 

capital

Fulela Trade and Invest 81 Proprietary Limited 49 760 381 77.98

49 760 381 77.98

Beneficial shareholders holding 5% or more of N ordinary shares

Shareholder
Number of 

shares
% of issued 

capital

HCI Invest 6 Holdco Proprietary Limited 323 330 485 84.66

323 330 485 84.66

Distribution of shareholders

Ordinary shares

Distribution of shareholders
Number of 

shareholders
% of 

shareholders
Number of 

shares
% of issued 

capital

Bank 3 0.30 220 014 1.11
Broker 1 0.10 1 0.00
Close corporation 17 1.68 2 241 167 3.51
Individual 908 89.81 7 046 945 11.04
Investment company 18 1.78 1 864 201 2.92
Pension fund 3 0.30 8 510 0.01
Private company 19 1.88 50 147 602 78.59
Public company 6 0.59 700 297 1.10
Trust 36 3.56 1 583 507 2.48

1 011 100.00 63 810 244 100.00
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N ordinary shares

Distribution of shareholders
Number of 

shareholders
% of 

shareholders
Number of 

shares
% of issued 

capital

Banks 5 0.54 2 203 126 0.58
Close corporation 22 2.39 7 981 261 2.09
Individual 816 88.60 38 484 501 10.08
Investment company 15 1.63 3 612 557 0.95
Pension fund 1 0.11 42 000 0.01
Private company 20 2.17 324 964 623 85.09
Public company 8 0.87 1 245 364 0.33
Trust 34 3.69 3 393 927 0.89

921 100.00 381 927 359 100.00 

Stock exchange performance for ordinary shares

Total number of shares traded (000) 6 500 
Total value of shares traded (R’000) 19 500
Market price per share
• Closing (cents) 300
• High (cents) 300
• Low (cents) 300
Market capitalisation (R’000) 191 430 

Stock exchange performance for N ordinary shares

Total number of shares traded (000) –
Total value of shares traded (R’000) –
Market price per share
• Closing (cents) 212
• High (cents) –
• Low (cents) –
Market capitalisation (R’000) 809 686 

Shareholder snapshot continued

Shareholders’ diary
Financial year-end March
Annual general meeting September 
Reports
• Preliminary report May
• Integrated annual report July
• Annual financial statements July
• Interim report (for six months ended 30 September) November
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At year-end, the directors were directly or indirectly interested in the company’s issued shares 
as follows:

Ordinary shares
  2019 2018

 
Number

of shares %
Number

of shares %

Direct – –  196 588 –
Indirect 3 881 708 6.1 3 879 586 6.1

         

N ordinary shares
  2019 2018

 
Number

of shares %
Number

of shares %

Direct 5 765 175 1.5 5 765 175 0.0
Indirect 17 283 674 4.5 17 283 674 4.5

There have been no changes to the above interests at the date of this report.

Details of directors’ beneficial direct and indirect interest in the ordinary and N ordinary shares are as 
follows:

Ordinary shares
Direct Indirect

 2019  2018  2019  2018 

TG Govender – –  132 554  132 407 
A van der Veen –  196 588 – –
AS Lee – – – –
MK Sherrif – – – –
JA Copelyn – – 3 747 179 3 747 179 
VE Mphande – – – –
L Govender – – – –
RD Watson – – – –

N ordinary shares
  Direct Indirect

  2019 2018 2019 2018

TG Govender – –  589 876  589 876 
AS Lee  47 644  47 644 – – 
MK Sherrif  5 717 531 5 717 531 – – 
JA Copelyn – – 16 693 798 16 693 798 
VE Mphande – – – – 
L Govender – – – – 
RD Watson – – – – 
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Ethical conduct, good corporate governance and risk governance 
are fundamental to the way that eMedia Holdings manages its 
business. Stakeholders’ interests are balanced against effective risk 
management and eMedia Holdings’ obligations to ensure ethical 
management and responsible control.

Ethics
The group has a code of conduct which underpins its business practices. All employees are expected 
to adhere to this code. It provides guidance and clarification on matters such as conflicts of interest, 
acceptance and giving of donations and gifts, compliance with laws and the dissemination of group 
confidential information.

In line with the principles in this code, employees are expected to be accountable for their actions and act 
in a manner that adheres to the following core values:

• Honesty 

• Integrity

• Mutual respect

• Accountability

• Professionalism

The directors, officers and senior management of eMedia Holdings and its subsidiaries remain committed 
to a high level of corporate governance and endorse the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct 
as enshrined in King lV. The group recognises that sound corporate governance practices enhance 
shareholder value and by conducting the group’s affairs with integrity, this will ensure the long-term 
sustainability of the business.

Board of directors
The board is regulated by a formal board charter, which sets out the role of the board and the 
responsibilities of the directors. The board maintains full and effective control over the company and is 
accountable and responsible for its performance. The board charter codifies the board’s composition, 
appointment, authorities, responsibilities and processes, and sets out the fiduciary duties of the 
directors of the company. It provides the board with a mandate to exercise leadership, determine the 
group’s vision and strategy and monitor operational performance.

Composition of the board
The board comprises a balance of power with a majority of non-executive directors.

The board currently comprises two executive directors and six non-executive directors, three of whom are 
classified as independent. The composition of the board reflects the need to protect the interest of all 
stakeholders as well as the demographics of the country. The majority of the board members are previously 
disadvantaged individuals as defined in the Employment Equity Act.

eMedia Holdings directors 
• John Copelyn* (non-executive chairperson)

• Loganathan Govender** 

• Kevin Govender* 

• Antonio Lee (financial director)

• Elias Mphande** 

• Yunis Shaik*

• Mahomed Khalik Sherrif (chief executive officer)

• Rachel Watson**

*  Non-executive.

** Independent non-executive.

The roles of the chairperson and chief executive officer are separated.C
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To uphold their independence and integrity, directors disclose 
all material interests as and when they arise. A list of directors’ 
interests is tabled annually.

The directors are entitled to seek independent professional 
advice at the company’s expense concerning the company’s 
affairs and have access to any information they may require in 
discharging their duties as directors. Seminars, workshops and 
lectures by leading experts in their field are given on an ongoing 
basis to directors to assist in their duties.

Board committees
Three board committees and an executive committee 
have been established to assist the board in discharging its 
responsibilities. In line with King lV, all board committees 
comprise only members of the board but appropriate personnel 
are also invited to the meetings as required. All committees 
are empowered to obtain such external or other independent 
professional advice as they consider necessary to carry out 
their duties. These committees play an important role in 
enhancing good corporate governance and improving internal 
controls and consequently the company’s performance. Each 
board committee acts according to written terms of reference, 
approved by the board and reviewed annually, setting out 
its purpose, membership requirements, duties and reporting 
procedures.

Each of the company’s major subsidiaries has established board 
and committee structures which submit regular reports to the 
company.

eMedia Holdings audit and risk 
committee 
Members 
• Loganathan Govender – chairperson of the audit and risk 

committee

• Elias Mphande

• Rachel Watson 

NJ (Neville) Williams has a permanent invite to these meetings 
and is an independent director of eMedia Investments 
Proprietary Limited.

eMedia Holdings social and ethics 
committee
• John Copelyn – chairperson of the social and ethics 

committee

• Rachel Watson 

• Loganathan Govender 

HJ (Hein) Carse has a permanent invite to these meetings 
and is an independent director of eMedia Investments 
Proprietary Limited.

eMedia Holdings remuneration 
committee 
• Rachel Watson – chairperson of the remuneration committee

• John Copelyn 

• Elias Mphande 

Hein Carse has a permanent invite to these meetings and is an 
independent director of eMedia Proprietary Limited.

Meetings of the board
During the year, eMedia Holdings held four board meetings. 
The directors are comprehensively briefed in advance of the 
meetings and are provided with the necessary information to 
enable them to discharge their responsibilities. 

With effect from 3 July 2018, Yunis Shaik was appointed 
to the board as a non-executive director. Chief executive 
officer, Mahomed Khalik Sherrif, was appointed to the board 
on 13 November 2018 after the resignation of the previous 
chief executive officer, Andre van der Veen, who resigned on 
30 November 2018. 

Individual directors’ attendance at the eMedia Holdings board 
meetings is set out in the table below.

Board members
18 May 

2018
23 Aug 
2018

13 Nov 
2018

20 March 
2019

JA Copelyn √ √ √ √

TG Govender – √ √ √

RD Watson √ √ √ √

L Govender √ √ √ √

AS Lee √ √ √ √

VE Mphande √ √ √ √

MK Sherrif** n/a n/a √ √

A van der Veen*** √ √ – n/a

Y Shaik* n/a √ √ √

* Appointed effective 3 July 2019.
** Appointed effective 13 November 2019.
*** Resigned effective 30 November 2019.

Meetings of the audit and risk 
committee
During the year, eMedia Holdings held four audit and risk 
committee meetings. 

The members are comprehensively briefed in advance of the 
meetings and are provided with the necessary information to 
enable them to discharge their responsibilities. 

Corporate governance report continued
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Individual members’ attendance at the eMedia Holdings audit 
and risk committee meetings is set out in the table below.

Board members
17 May 

2018
23 Aug 
2018

13 Nov 
2018

19 March 
2019

L Govender √ √ √ √

RD Watson √ √ √ √

VE Mphande √ √ √ √

NJ Williams √ √ √ –

Meetings of the social and ethics 
committee
During the year, eMedia Holdings held two social and ethics 
committee meetings. The members are comprehensively 
briefed in advance of the meetings and are provided with 
the necessary information to enable them to discharge their 
responsibilities. 

Individual members’ attendance at the eMedia Holdings social 
and ethics committee meetings is set out in the table below.

Board members 23 Aug 2018 20 March 2019

JA Copelyn √ √

RD Watson √ √

L Govender √ √

HJ Carse √ √

Meetings of the remuneration 
committee
During the year, eMedia Holdings held three remuneration 
committee meetings. The members are comprehensively 
briefed in advance of the meetings and are provided with 
the necessary information to enable them to discharge their 
responsibilities. 

Individual members’ attendance at the eMedia Holdings 
remuneration committee meetings is set out in the table below.

Board members
18 May 

2018
23 Aug 
2019

13 Nov 
2018

20 March 
2019

JA Copelyn √ √ √ √

RD Watson √ √ √ √

VE Mphande √ √ √ –

HJ Carse √ √ √ √

Financial director
Antonio Lee, an executive director, is the financial director of 
the group. The audit and risk committee has considered his 
expertise and experience and deems them appropriate. The 
committee is also satisfied that the expertise, resources and 
experience of the finance function are adequate. The financial 
director’s competency and expertise will be assessed on an 
annual basis by the audit and risk committee.

Company secretary
HCI Managerial Services Proprietary Limited held the office 
of the company secretary for the 12 months ended 31 March 
2019. The secretarial department is under the supervision 
of Cheryl Philip (FCIS) who is empowered, and authorised, 
to provide corporate governance services to the board and 
management. The board has evaluated the performance and 
independence of the company secretary during the period 
under review and it is satisfied that the company secretary 
is competent and has the appropriate qualifications and 
experience required by the group to administer the secretarial 
obligations of the company. The name, business and postal 
address of the company secretary are set out on page 67.

The company secretary provides support and guidance to 
the board in matters relating to governance, ethical conduct 
and fiduciary duties. Where required, the secretary facilitates 
induction and training for directors and co-ordinates the annual 
board evaluation process. Directors have unrestricted access 
to the advice and services of the company secretary while 
maintaining an arm’s length relationship between the board 
and the company secretary. 

Dealing in the company’s securities
eMedia Holdings complies with the continuing obligations of the 
JSE Listings Requirements. A group-wide share trading policy is 
in place whereby all directors and employees who have access 
to financial results and other price-sensitive information are 
prohibited from dealing in eMedia Holdings shares during certain 
prescribed restricted periods as defined by the JSE, or when the 
company is operating under a cautionary announcement. The 
company secretary regularly disseminates written notices to 
inform these employees of the insider trading legislation and 
advise of closed periods. All directors and senior executives are 
required to obtain written clearance prior to the dealing in shares 
of the company and to report all share dealings to the company 
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secretary, to ensure that all such dealings are disclosed in terms 
of the applicable JSE Listings Requirements.

Conflict of interest
The directors are required to avoid situations where they 
have direct or indirect interests that conflict with the group’s 
interests. Procedures are in place for disclosure by directors of 
any potential conflicts and for appropriate authorisation to be 
sought if conflict arises.

Compliance with laws, codes and standards, 
and licence conditions
eMedia Holdings respects and complies with the laws of the 
countries in which it operates. The group has identified three 
critical legislative areas which are material to the company. 
They deal with compliance with our broadcast licence, human 
capital management and safety in the work place.

e.tv’s broadcast licence places these obligations on the 
broadcaster: employment equity, skills development, language 
diversity, local content, general programming, information 
programming, news and current affairs programming, children’s 
programming and advertising limitation. 

The company has strong and established processes which 
ensure that all obligations specified in the company’s licence 
conditions are met. Quarterly compliance reports are produced 
to ensure that targets are met. This allows for any necessary 
adjustments to be made before submission to the Independent 
Communications Authority of South Africa.

With regard to laws governing the employer/employee relations 
and health and safety, the company has formulated policies 
and delegated responsibility to designated employees to 
monitor and ensure compliance with the various Acts.  

Disclosures
To ensure shareholder parity, eMedia Holdings ensures that 
accurate and timely disclosure of information that may have 
a material effect on the value of the securities or influence 
investment decisions, is made to all shareholders. The company 
publishes details of its corporate actions and performance 
via the Stock Exchange News Service (SENS) and the main 
South African daily newspapers. The company maintains a 

website through which the broader community can access 
the company’s latest financial, operational and historical 
information, including its integrated annual report.

Litigation 
There is no material legal or arbitration proceedings which 
may have a material effect on the financial position of eMedia 
Holdings.

Governance of information technology
Due to the inherent risks in information technology (IT), King lV 
has recommended that the board of directors be responsible for 
the assessment, implementation and monitoring of IT within 
the company. As a media investment company and with the 
convergence of broadcasting and IT, IT governance is critical to 
governance procedures. 

IT governance is a standing item on the audit and risk 
committee agenda, with the head of IT for e.tv, eNCA and 
Platco reporting to the committee on a quarterly basis. 
An annual internal audit evaluates IT in terms of governance. 
This ensures that policies and procedures are current, relevant 
and implemented. 

The shift away from traditional broadcasting equipment 
towards IT infrastructures means that all IT equipment, as 
related to broadcast infrastructure, is purchased with a five-year 
maintenance warranty. This ensures that resources are readily 
available in the event of failure. 

With regard to the delivery of TV channels for broadcast, the 
companies use both fibre and satellite delivery mechanisms with 
the consideration of redundancy always taken into account.

Corporate governance report continued
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Principle 1: The governing body should lead ethically and effectively.

The board of directors (the board) has adopted a code of ethics based on the company’s five core 
values of honesty, integrity, mutual respect, accountability and professionalism. The code of ethics is a 
cornerstone for the long-term strategy of the company and confirms the way the company conducts its 
business and embodies the standards that the board has set for itself and for the group.

The board ensures that stakeholders’ interests are balanced against effective risk management and 
eMedia Holdings’ obligations to ensure ethical management and responsible control.

Principle 2: The governing body should govern the ethics of the organisation in a way that 
supports the establishment of an ethical culture.

The company’s code of ethics has clearly defined values which all employees are expected to abide by. 
The board sets the values which encourage an ethical environment of fairness and transparency and has 
delegated the authority to management to promote the code of ethics, but the board remains ultimately 
responsible for the ethics of the company. 

The code of ethics of the company is principle-based, not governed by a set of rules that must be 
implemented and monitored.

Ethical conduct, good corporate governance, risk governance and fair remuneration are fundamental to 
the way that eMedia Holdings conducts its business.

Principle 3: The governing body should ensure that the organisation is and is seen to be a 
responsible corporate citizen.

As the owner of some of South Africa’s leading broadcasters, eMedia Holdings is in the unique position to 
use its media platforms to support non-profit organisations that do important work and raise awareness 
around important social issues at a national level. 

For further information please refer to the corporate social responsibility section of this report.

eMedia Holdings is committed to BBBEE and undergoes an annual verification. Part of the group’s 
commitment to empowerment is evidenced through the promotion of small and medium-sized enterprises 
on its TV channels. 

The group also participates in the voluntary CDP to monitor the impact its businesses have on the 
environment and attempt to reduce this impact on an annual basis.

eMedia Holdings sees itself as a good corporate citizen in all its financial matters and has always received 
an unqualified opinion from its auditors – no fraud or allegations of fraud have been identified.

The board ensures that the company is a responsible corporate citizen by complying with all national and 
international laws.

Principle 4: The governing body should appreciate that the organisation’s core purpose, its 
risks and opportunities, strategy, business model, performance and sustainable development 
are all inseparable elements of the value creation process.

The board ensures that the strategy is aligned with the purpose of the company, the value drivers of its 
business and the legitimate interests and expectations of its stakeholders.

As an investment holding company, the board is actively involved in discussing, reviewing and ultimately 
approving the acquisition of new business units or the disposal of investments.

The board reviews the resources available to execute its strategy. Resources, including financial resources, 
processes, systems, infrastructure, intellectual property, positioning, related assets and employees, support 
its value chain. The board takes account of the legitimate and expectations of its stakeholders in its 
decision-making in the best interests of the company.

Strategy is translated into key performance and risk areas (including finance, ethics, compliance and 
sustainability) and the associated performance and risk measures are identified and clear. All strategies 
implemented will have both positive and negative consequences on social and environmental conditions 
depending on the various advocacy groups which reflect the underlying value differences of the group. 
However, the company continues to monitor and assess the risk, including the reputational risk, when 
determining strategy.
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Principle 5: The governing body should ensure that reports issued by the organisation enable stakeholders to 
make informed assessments of the organisation’s performance, and its short, medium and long-term prospects.

The company has controls in place which have enabled it to verify and safeguard the integrity, i.e. accuracy and reliability of its 
integrated annual report. The board ensures that the reporting framework complies with the Companies Act and the JSE Listings 
Requirements.

The board reviews the provisional results, interim results, integrated annual report and annual financial statements to ensure that 
all the reporting requirements are sufficiently met. The board, via its committees, is responsible for all reports and circulars that are 
published and circulated to shareholders.

Principle 6: The governing body should serve as the focal point and custodian of corporate governance in the 
organisation. 

One of the functions of the audit and risk committee is to oversee the corporate governance of the company. Good corporate 
governance incorporates best business practices which are aligned with the overall strategic direction of the company. The board 
is fully involved with approving policy and planning by managing the strategy of the company; determining if business actions are 
in line with the corporate vision; requesting and reviewing evaluations; and reviewing the plans and the risks, and the manner in 
which these risks are mitigated.

Principle 7: The governing body should comprise the appropriate balance of knowledge, skills, experience, 
diversity and independence for it to discharge its governance role and responsibilities objectively and effectively.

The board has assumed responsibility, in line with the board charter, for the composition of the board by ensuring diversity, gender 
parity, skills, knowledge, resources and intelligence to effectively discharge its governance role and responsibilities and carry out all 
its duties. This ensures that the number of directors and diversity of those on the board is sufficient.

The board comprises eight members, including two executive directors and six non-executive directors, of which three are 
independent non-executive directors. As per the rules of the JSE and the Companies Act, the board has a sufficient number of 
independent directors to appoint to the board committees and make up a quorum at the meetings. The board is experienced in 
legal, financial, media, labour relations and business sectors. The board is chaired by John Copelyn, a non-executive director, who 
is not a former chief executive officer of the company. There is a clear division of responsibilities between the chairperson and 
chief executive officer.

Loganathan Govender is the lead independent director and in the event that John Copelyn is absent from a meeting, he will chair 
the meeting. A formal role description exists for the chairperson.

One-third of the board, including executive directors, is elected by shareholders on a rotational basis. Furthermore, directors 
appointed to the board during the course of the year retire as directors of the company and stand for election by shareholders in 
accordance with the Companies Act.

The board does not have a nomination committee. All new candidates are vetted and approved by the board.

The board has applied its mind and has determined that, in line with the Companies Act, the independent directors and non-
executive directors who have served for more than nine years are not unduly influenced by any relationship which will cause bias 
in their decision-making, and which is not in the best interest of the company. 

The company considers itself as an outstanding example in relation to BBBEE. It is both owned by more than 50% of PDI 
shareholders and its board is representative of this status. The composition of the board is 88% people of colour.

King lV application register continued
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Principle 8: The governing body should ensure that its arrangements for delegation within its own structures 
promote independent judgement and assist with the balance of power and the effective discharge of its duties.

The board ensures that suitable candidates are appointed to the subsidiary committees to achieve the objectives of the board 
committees. The overall role and associated responsibilities and functions of the committees are included, where necessary, in the 
terms of reference.

All members of the board of the company as well as the committees of the board have access to resources and information and 
may request information directly from management on matters of interest to the board.

If required, the directors may take independent advice. Each board committee is chaired by a different non-executive director of 
the board. The board of the company consists of six non-executive directors which allows for a balanced distribution of power in 
respect of membership across committees, so that no individual can dominate decision-making, and no undue reliance is placed 
on any individual.

Principle 9: The governing body should ensure that the evaluation of its own performance and that of its 
committees, its chair and its individual members, support continued improvement in its performance and 
effectiveness.

The board of directors assumes responsibility for the evaluation of its own performance and that of its committees, its chair and its 
individual members.

The board has agreed that the assessments are best conducted by dialogue between all the board members in a transparent and 
open manner at the board meetings.

The audit and risk committee completes written assessments of the committee, the finance director and the finance team as well 
as of the external auditors and submits these to the company secretary for review. An assessment of the internal auditor has not yet 
been conducted.

The chairperson’s ability to add value and his performance against what is expected of his role and function are assessed every year 
by the board.

The board determines the role, functions, duties and performance criteria for the directors on the board and board committees which 
serve as a benchmark for performance appraisal. 

The remuneration committee reviews and assesses the results of the company and benchmarks them against set targets and the 
action plan as approved previously by the board.

The board of the company is satisfied that the manner of its evaluation process leads to improvements in its performance and 
effectiveness.

Principle 10: The governing body should ensure that the appointment of, and delegation to, management 
contribute to role clarity and the effective exercise of authority and responsibilities.

The board has set the direction and parameters for the powers which are to be reserved for itself, and those that are to be delegated 
to management via the chief executive officer. The chief executive officer is responsible for leading the implementation and 
execution of approved strategy, policy and operational planning, and serves as the chief link between management and the board. 
There is at present no formal succession plan for the chief executive officer. 

The chief executive officer and financial director oversee that key management functions are headed by individuals with the 
necessary competence and authority as delegated by the board and have been authorised to ensure that key management functions 
are adequately resourced. The board of directors of the underlying investments contribute to decisions regarding senior executive 
appointments in their specific operations.

The board is satisfied that the delegation of authority framework contributes to role clarity and the effective exercise of authority and 
responsibility within the company.

The company secretarial department is managed by a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries, who is empowered and 
authorised to provide corporate governance services to the board and management effectively.

The role and function of the company secretary is in accordance with section 88 of the Companies Act. A resolution confirming the 
appointment of the company secretary by the board of directors is in place. The company secretary has unfettered access to the 
board (and vice versa) but, for reasons of independence, maintains an arm’s length relationship with it and its members. Accordingly, 
the company secretary is not a member of the board. The performance and independence of the company secretary are evaluated 
annually by the board.
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Principle 11: The governing body should govern risk in a way that supports the organisation in setting and 
achieving strategic objectives.

The board’s responsibility for risk governance is expressed in the board charter and risk policy. As an investment holding company, 
eMedia Holdings continuously considers the risk and opportunities related to its current portfolio as well as future investments. 
This process, which is integral to the manner the company makes decisions, is led by the executive committee and supported by 
the audit and risk committee and the board.

The board monitors that risks taken are within the risk tolerance and appetite levels. The audit and risk committee reviews the 
risk management progress and maturity of the company, the effectiveness of risk management activities, the key risks facing the 
company, and the responses to these key risks. 

The audit and risk committee reviews quarterly risk management reports, discussing the key risks facing the company and the 
responses to address these key risks.

Principle 12: The governing body should govern IT in a way that supports the organisation in setting and 
achieving strategic objectives.

The board assumes the responsibility for the governance of IT. The audit and risk committee reviews IT governance on a quarterly 
basis through reports presented to the committee by the head of IT. 

Principle 13: The governing body should govern compliance with applicable laws, and adopted non-binding 
rules, codes and standards in a way that supports the organisation being ethical and a good corporate citizen. 

The group’s major subsidiaries work within a regulated broadcasting environment. Complying with legal requirements and licence 
conditions is critical to the sustainability of the business. The social and ethics committee has been mandated to monitor the 
effectiveness of compliance to legal and broadcast licence regulations in the group. 

The social and ethics committee receives compliance reports at each meeting from the head of regulatory and strategy. This 
monitoring of compliance is a systematic and ongoing process ensuring a compliance framework that is effective and that any 
associated risks and/or breaches in compliance are effectively managed and mitigated.

The board understands, and is aware, that the promotion of a culture of compliance within the group reduces the risk of violating 
the rules and regulations that govern the company. The process of compliance can, furthermore, remedy any breach that may 
have occurred.

The board is further satisfied that the company has met the requirements of the Companies Act and the JSE Listings 
Requirements. Compliance with all relevant laws, regulations, accepted standards or codes is integral to the group’s risk 
management process and is monitored on a continuous basis. As in previous years, there has been no major non-compliance by, 
or fines or prosecutions against, the group during the year under review.

Principle 14: The governing body should ensure that the organisation remunerates fairly, responsibly and 
transparently so as to promote the achievement of strategic objectives and positive outcomes in the short, 
medium and long term.

eMedia Holdings’ remuneration committee is responsible for overseeing the remuneration and incentives of the executive 
directors and executive management. Remuneration is aligned with the company’s approach to reward directors and senior 
executives fairly and competitively, but according to the overall level of performance of the group. 

Remuneration practices are aligned with company strategy which includes the achievement of strategic objectives within the 
organisation’s risk appetite and tolerance levels. 

King lV application register continued
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Principle 15: The governing body should ensure that assurance services and functions enable an effective control 
environment, and that these support the integrity of information for the internal decision-making and the 
organisation’s external reports.

Internal controls are established not only over financial matters, but also operational, compliance and sustainability issues. 
Although a combined assurance model has not yet been formalised, various sources of assurance are currently in place at group 
level. These include, but are not limited to, internal audit, compliance, external audit and the code of ethics.

The internal audit function is independent and objective. The function reports administratively to the financial director and 
functionally to the chairperson of the audit and risk committee, which has approved the appointment of the Certified Association 
Executive.

The internal audit function complies with the code of ethics of the Institute of Internal Auditors.

Principle 16: In the execution of its governance role and responsibilities, the governing body should adopt a 
stakeholder-inclusive approach that balances the needs, interests and expectations of material stakeholders in 
the best interests of the organisation over time.

The board has adopted communication guidelines that support a responsible communication programme. Stakeholder 
communication is disseminated through SENS announcements, the company’s website and further reports as required by the JSE. 
The company continuously monitors the effect any decision implemented would have on the company’s reputation. 

The board is looking at building on this stakeholder-inclusive approach which balances the needs, interests and expectations of 
material stakeholders in the best interest of the organisation. This stakeholder-inclusive approach requires the identification of 
the stakeholders and their interconnectivity to allow for the development of a strategy to manage and integrate the relationships 
between all the stakeholders by managing the business environment, relationships and promotion of share interests. 

The board has delegated the development of the strategy to management. 
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The audit and risk committee is formally established as an independent statutory 
committee in terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended (the 
Companies Act). The committee oversees audit and risk matters for all the subsidiaries of 
eMedia Holdings, as permitted by section 94(2)(a) of the Companies Act.

The audit and risk committee’s terms of reference are formalised in a charter which is 
reviewed annually.

During the year under review, the audit and risk committee conducted its affairs in 
accordance with the charter and discharged its responsibilities as required by the charter, 
the Companies Act and the material requirements of King lV.

The audit and risk committee has pleasure in submitting this report in respect of the past 
financial year of the group, as required by section 94 of the Companies Act.

Audit and risk committee members and meeting 
attendance
The audit and risk committee consists of three independent non-executive directors, 
elected by the shareholders of eMedia Holdings.

Audit and risk committee meetings are held at least four times a year as required by 
the charter.

The financial director and the group financial manager attend the meetings as 
permanent invitees, along with external audit and the outsourced internal audit. Other 
directors and members of management attend as required.

Audit and risk committee evaluation
As part of the annual evaluation, the performance of the audit and risk committee and 
its members was assessed and found to be satisfactory. In addition, members were 
assessed in terms of the independence requirements of King lV and the Companies Act. 
All members of the committee continue to meet the independence requirements.

Functions of the audit and risk committee
The audit and risk committee fulfils an independent oversight role regarding the group’s 
financial statements and the reporting process, including the system of internal financial 
control, with accountability to both the board and to shareholders. The committee’s 
responsibilities include the statutory duties prescribed by the Companies Act, 
recommendations by King lV and additional responsibilities assigned by the board.

The committee is satisfied that, in respect of the financial period under review, it 
has performed all the functions required by law to be performed by an audit and risk 
committee, including as set out by section 94 of the Companies Act and in terms of the 
committee’s terms of reference and as more fully set out in the corporate governance 
report. In this connection the committee has:

• reviewed the interim, provisional and year-end financial statements, culminating in a 
recommendation to the board to adopt them;

• reviewed legal matters that could have a significant impact on the group’s 
financial statements; 

• reviewed the external audit reports on the annual financial statements; 

• verified the independence of the external auditor as per section 92 of the Companies 
Act and accordingly nominates BDO South Africa Incorporated to continue in office 
as the independent auditor and noted the appointment of Garron Chaitowitz as the 
designated auditor for 2019. Due to the mandatory auditor partner rotation, the 
committee has recommended the appointment of Kathryn Luck as the designated 
registered auditor for the 2020 financial year;R
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• approved the audit fees and engagement terms of the 
external auditor; and 

• determined the nature and extent of allowable non-audit 
services and approved the contract terms for the provision 
of non-audit services by the external auditor. 

The committee has satisfied itself that BDO South Africa 
Incorporated, the external auditor, and Garron Chaitowitz, the 
designated auditor, are independent of the company and of 
the group.

The audit and risk committee has reviewed sections 3, 8, 13, 
15 and 22 and Schedule 8 of the JSE Listings Requirements and, 
based on the amended requirements of the JSE accreditation 
of auditors, effective 15 October 2017, confirms that:

i. the audit firm has met all the criteria stipulated in the 
requirements, including that the audit regulator has 
completed a firm-wide independent quality control 
(ISQC 1) inspection on the audit firm during its previous 
inspection cycle;

ii. the auditors have provided to the audit and risk committee, 
the required IRBA inspection decision letters, findings report 
and proposed remedial action to address the findings, both 
at the audit firm and the individual auditor level; and 

iii both the audit firm and the individual auditor understand 
their roles and have the competence, expertise, experience 
and skills required to discharge their specific audit and 
financial reporting responsibilities. 

Key audit matters
i)  Goodwill

The committee reviewed the goodwill impairment tests 
performed by management. The value-in-use calculations 
and assumptions were considered together with the external 
auditor’s opinion on these calculations. The committee is 
satisfied that goodwill is not impaired.

ii)  Valuation of distribution rights 
The committee reviewed the assessment performed by 
management. The assumptions were considered together 
with the external auditor’s opinion on these calculations.  
The committee is satisfied that these rights are not impaired.

iii) Valuation of programming rights 
The committee reviewed the assessment performed by 
management. The assumptions were considered together 
with the external auditor’s opinion on these calculations.  
The committee is satisfied that these rights are not impaired.

iv) Recoverability of the investment in subsidiary and 
inter-company loans
The committee reviewed the recoverability tests performed 
by management. The value-in-use calculations and 
assumptions were considered together with the external 
auditor’s opinion on these calculations. The committee 
is satisfied that the investment in the subsidiary and the 
inter-company loans are not impaired.

The audit and risk committee fulfils an oversight role regarding 
the group’s financial statements and the reporting process, 
including the system of internal financial control.

Private meetings
Audit and risk committee agendas provide for private meetings 
between the committee members and the external auditors 
which are regularly held.

Expertise and experience of the 
financial director
During the period under review, the committee considered 
the expertise and experience of the financial director, 
Antonio Lee CA(SA), and is satisfied that, in terms of section 
3.84(h) of the JSE Listings Requirements, the financial director 
has the appropriate skills, expertise and experience to meet the 
responsibilities of the position. 
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Internal audit
The group has appointed GRIPP Advisory Proprietary Limited 
to perform the internal audit function. Where appropriate, 
subsidiaries and/or departments are assessed, with quarterly 
reports made available and discussed at the eMedia Holdings 
audit and risk committee meetings.

Risk management and internal 
control
The board acknowledges that it is accountable for the process 
of risk management and the system of internal control of  
the group.

The group operates in a highly regulated environment. Where 
necessary, compliance officers have been appointed at each of 
the group’s key operating subsidiaries and associated company 
levels for ensuring adherence to the various Acts and codes 
that govern the day-to-day operations. Each of the group’s 
companies has its own board of directors responsible for the 
management, including risk management and internal control, 
of that company and its business.

The financial director, Antonio Lee CA(SA), oversees risk 
management for eMedia Holdings. Given the changing 
landscape of broadcasting and media in South Africa, eMedia 
Holdings realises that enterprise-wide risk management adds 
value to the robustness and sustainability of an organisation. 
It improves communication, enhances risk awareness as well 
as risk mitigation processes. 

The group utilises the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
of the Treadway Commission’s (COSO) risk management 

methodology to assess the group’s risk appetite versus the 
cost of risks. The COSO framework allows organisations to 
develop cost-effective systems of internal control to achieve 
important business objectives. At least four times a year, the 
audit and risk committee documents and reports risks that are 
apparent and arising.

Through thorough consultation with the board, the risk appetite 
and risk-bearing capacity for eMedia Holdings is defined.

A full risk assessment is conducted annually with quarterly 
updates and reports to the audit and risk committee. eMedia 
Holdings finds it imperative to ensure that risk management 
becomes inducted into daily activities which lead to a 
sustainable risk-aware culture.

Recommendation of the integrated 
annual report
The committee has evaluated the integrated annual report of 
eMedia Holdings Limited and the group for the period ended 
31 March 2019 and based on the information provided to the 
committee, it recommends the adoption of the integrated 
annual report by the board.

Loganathan Govender
Chairperson: Audit and risk committee

29 July 2019
Cape Town
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Committee members
At year-end, the remuneration committee consisted of Rachel Watson (chairperson), 
John Copelyn and Elias Mphande.

Hein Carse is an independent director of eMedia Investments and is a permanent 
invitee to this committee.

Members of the committee are non-executive directors. In line with the 
recommendations of King lV, the chief executive officer attends the meetings of the 
committee at the request of the committee but recuses himself from the meeting before 
any decisions are made.

This committee is primarily responsible for overseeing the remuneration and incentives 
of the executive directors and executive management. It takes cognisance of local 
best remuneration practices in order to ensure that such total remuneration is fair 
and reasonable to both the employee and the company. The committee utilises the 
services of independent remuneration consultants to assist in providing guidance on 
the remuneration for executive management. The group’s remuneration philosophy 
strives to reward employees in a fair and responsible way which ensures a culture of high 
performance to deliver returns to shareholders through employees who are motivated, 
engaged and committed. This philosophy’s intended consequence is to attract, retain 
and develop employees with scarce and critical skills who contribute to sustained 
business growth and are aligned with the strategic and operational requirements of  
the business.

The functions and mandates of the remuneration committee include:

• making recommendations to the board on directors’ fees and the remuneration and 
service conditions of executive directors, including the chief executive officer;

• providing a channel of communication between the board and management on 
remuneration matters;

• reviewing the group’s remuneration policies, practices and proposals, to change these 
and to make recommendations in this regard to the board;

• reviewing and approving the terms and conditions of executive directors’ 
employment contracts, taking into account information from comparable companies;

• determining and approving any grants to executive directors and other senior 
employees made pursuant to the company’s employee share option scheme; and

• reviewing and approving any disclosures in the integrated annual report or elsewhere 
on remuneration policies or directors’ remuneration.

Executive directors earn a basic salary which is determined by independent 
remuneration consultants and escalate in line with inflation for their contracts. Bonuses 
payable are purely discretionary and are determined annually after reviewing the 
performance of the group and its subsidiaries. 

Non-executive directors earn a basic fee which is in line with companies of a similar size. 
These fees escalate annually in line with inflation and are reviewed every three years by 
an independent remuneration consultant. Directors can earn up to a maximum of 50% 
of their board fees by serving on the committees responsible to the board of directors. 
Non-executive directors do not receive short-term incentives and do not participate in 
any long-term incentive schemes.

In the event that the non-binding resolution advisory resolution in respect of the 
company’s remuneration report or its remuneration policy, as summarised in this report, 
is voted against by 25% or more of votes cast at the annual general meeting, the board 
will seek to engage directly with the disapproving shareholders in order to contemplate 
the reasons for dissent and implement corrective action, if it deems fit.
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Proposed fee 
2019

Proposed fee 
2018

Position R’000 R’000

Non-executive director 132.6 126.0
Member of audit and risk committee 54.2 51.5
Member of remuneration committee 49.4 47.0
Member of social and ethics committee Nil Nil

Directors’ emoluments

Paid by a subsidiary 
company Salary Bonus

Retirement
and medical

contributions
Share 

options
Directors’

fees
Other

benefits Total
Name R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

For the year ended  
31 March 2019              
Executive directors*              
MK Sherrif**  4 625  1 104  423 – – –  6 152 
AS Lee  2 667  710  257 – – –  3 634 
A van der Veen***** 3 173 – – 8 778 – 1 022 12 973
Non-executive directors              
JA Copelyn (chairperson)  7 330  3 573 –  4 310 –  198  15 411 
VE Mphande – – – –  1 213 –  1 213 
RD Watson – – – –  871 –  871 
L Govender – – – –  169 –  169 
TG Govender  1 908 806 –  1 854 –  67  5 742 
Y Shaik***  3 787  1 600 –  2 146 – –  7 533 
Prescribed officers              

MG Rosin****  4 036  1 073  375 – – –  5 484 
Paid by HCI’s subsidiaries 
not in the eMedia Holdings 
group (13 025) (5 979) – (8 310) (1 656) (265) (30 342)

   11 328  2 887  1 055 –  597 –  15 867 

* There is no distinction made in the remuneration packages of executive directors for services as directors and services for carrying on the 
business of the group.

** Appointed 13 November 2018.

*** Appointed 3 July 2018.

**** Resigned 30 April 2019.

***** Resigned 30 November 2018.
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Report of the remuneration committee continued

Paid by a subsidiary 
company Salary Bonus

Retirement
and medical

contributions
Share 

options
Directors’

fees
Other

benefits Total
Name R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

For the year ended  
31 March 2018              
Executive directors*              
A van der Veen*****  1 889  2 209 –  10 023 –  214  14 335 
AS Lee  2 533  783  211 – –    3 527 
Non-executive directors              
JA Copelyn (chairperson)  6 980  3 927 –  4 051 –  816  15 774 
VE Mphande – – – –  1 152 –  1 152 
RD Watson – – – –  751 –  751 
L Govender – – – –  173 –  173 
TG Govender  2 271  1 107 –  1 715 –  425  5 518 

Prescribed officers              
MG Rosin  3 837  1 183  320 – –    5 340 
MK Sherrif  3 837  1 183  320 – –    5 340 
Paid by HCI’s subsidiaries 
not in the eMedia Holdings 
group (11 140) (7 243) – (15 789) (1 470) (1 455) (37 097)

   10 207  3 149  851 –  606 –  14 813 

* There is no distinction made in the remuneration packages of executive directors for services as directors and services for carrying on the 
business of the group.

** Appointed 13 November 2018.

*** Appointed 3 July 2018.

**** Resigned 30 April 2019.

***** Resigned 30 November 2018.

Rachel Watson
Chairperson: Remuneration committee

29 July 2019 
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Committee members: John Copelyn (chairperson), Rachel Watson and 
Loganathan Govender.

Hein Carse has a permanent invite to these meetings and is an independent director of 
eMedia Investments.

The composition of the committee includes a number of personnel within the company 
who are the drivers of the underlying functions of the committee. The personnel have 
been invited to join the meetings and in line with the Act, the invitees do not have 
voting powers.

Functions of the social and ethics committee
The committee reports back to the board of eMedia Holdings and all decisions taken are 
decided by the board of directors. The social and ethics committee’s mandate as set out 
in its terms of reference is aligned to its statutory responsibilities. The social and ethics 
committee monitors and guides the company with regard to:

• social and economic development, including the company’s standing in terms of the 
goals and purposes of: 

 > the 10 principles set out in the United Nations Global Compact Principles; 

 > the Organisation of Economic Co-operation and Development recommendations 
regarding corruption; 

 > the Employment Equity Act; and

 > the Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act. 

• good corporate citizenship including: 

 > promotion of equality, prevention of unfair discrimination and reduction of 
corruption; 

 > contribution to development of the communities in which its activities are 
conducted or within which its products or services are marketed; and 

 > record of donations, sponsorships and charitable giving. 

• environment, health and public safety, including the promotion of environmental 
policies that relate to the activities where the group has its most significant 
environmental impacts; 

• consumer relationships, including the company’s advertising, public relations and 
compliance with consumer protection laws; 

• labour and employment, including the company’s standing in terms of its support 
of the four strategic objectives in respect of the International Labour Organization 
Protocol on decent work and working conditions; 

• the company’s employment relationships and its contribution toward the 
educational development of its employees; and 

• reporting to the board on matters discussed at the committee meetings, and making 
the necessary recommendations to assist the board in making the required decisions. 

The sustainability report on pages 36 to 43 incorporates the various aspects overseen by 
the committee.

John Copelyn
Chairperson: Social and ethics committee

29 July 2019
Cape Town
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Environmental
Carbon disclosure project
The group remains committed to minimising its impact on the environment and participates 
in an annual carbon disclosure project (CDP) along with its majority shareholder, Hosken HCI. 
Key greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions are measured and monitored allowing for the effective 
management of its emissions. 

The annual GHG emissions report submitted by Catalyst Solutions outlines the latest 
assessment and reports in terms of GHG Protocol and CO

2
e ton, which is the universal unit 

of measurement.

The report covers the financial year 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019. The report includes the 
group’s largest entities, e.tv, eSat.tv and Sasani Africa. 

A GHG emissions inventory is compiled on an annual basis for the group’s largest entities, e.tv, 
eSat.tv and Sasani Africa. The quality of data collection and reporting continues to improve 
due to a long-term relationship with IBIS Consulting, the group’s environmental consulting 
partner, who assists with the audit. This has resulted in more accurate reporting this financial 
year. 

During the period under review, emission factors were sourced from the IPCC 2006 Guidelines 
and the South African Department of Environmental Affairs’ Technical Guidelines for 
Monitoring, Reporting and Verification of GHG Emissions by Industry.  

The summary below accounts for the latest findings:

Scope 1 emissions have decreased by a further 7% during the 2018/19 financial year to 
424 CO

2
e tons (2018: 456 CO

2
e tons). The majority of eMedia’s scope 1 emissions are 

attributable to diesel and petrol consumption in company-owned vehicles. There was a 
decrease in diesel and petrol consumption relative to FY 2018. Over the last few years,  
the company has reduced the amount of driving it does in an effort to cut costs and be 
more efficient.

Scope 2 emissions increased by 23% during the year under review to 8 490 CO
2
e tons  

(2018: 6 886 CO
2
e tons). Scope 2 emissions increased between FY 2018 (restated) and  

FY 2019 due to increases in the Johannesburg office and Sasani studios. 

For Johannesburg, eMedia was incorrectly billed by the municipality for October 2017 to 
February 2018 and was in the process of disputing these amounts. We used an average 
consumption for these months. 

For Sasani studios, electricity consumption increased as more studios were occupied this year 
compared to the previous financial year. According to the company, all studios were fully 
occupied by permanent clients as they have soap productions. 
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Scope 3 emissions increased by 23% to 2 390 CO
2
e tons. This was mostly due to an increase in the 

electricity consumed by tenants in Sasani. Sasani reported an increase since all studios were fully 
occupied by permanent clients as they have soap productions.

The group will continue to monitor its electricity consumption throughout the 2019/20 fiscal year 
to ensure that it is making use of this resource efficiently.

GHG emissions (CO
2
e ton/annum)
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Scope 1
Direct GHG emissions

Direct emissions occur from sources that are owned or controlled by the company, for example 
emissions from company-owned vehicles and kilns.

Scope 2
Electricity/steam indirect emissions

Scope 2 accounts for GHG emissions from the generation of purchased electricity/steam consumed by 
the company.

Scope 3
Indirect emissions

Scope 3 emissions are all indirect emissions (not included in scope 2) that occur in the value chain of 
the reporting company including both downstream and upstream emissions.



Transformation
Broad-based black economic empowerment (BBBEE)
The group’s BBBEE performance is evaluated and consolidated at an HCI level on an annual basis. This year, HCI achieved a level 2 
BBBEE rating. 

The following companies are included on the latest HCI BBBEE certificate: eMedia Holdings, eMedia Investments, e.tv, eSat.tv, Yired 
(YFM), Sasani Africa, Platco Digital, Sabido Properties, Media Film Service and Moonlighting Films.

Under the current BBBEE Codes of Good Practice, exempt micro-enterprises (EMEs) and qualifying small enterprises (QSEs) 
can achieve compliance through the completion of an affidavit, provided that they meet the required black ownership criteria. 
Subsidiaries that completed affidavits include Searle Street Post Productions, Jacana Media, Open News, eMedia Content and 
Silverline Three Sixty. The entities all achieved a level 2 rating. 

Enterprise development
The group continues to invest in its enterprise development TV series, Forerunners. The initiative profiles small and medium-sized 
innovative businesses in South Africa using our most powerful medium, TV. 

The inserts provide a detailed look at the entrepreneur, the business’s history and current operations. This otherwise unaffordable TV 
airtime is provided free of charge and gives these entrepreneurs the opportunity to market their businesses to a national audience, 
which has benefits for sales and brand awareness and can lead to new partnerships and investments. 

This year, Forerunners donated over R27 million in airtime to 20 local black-owned small and medium-sized enterprises. The 
entrepreneurs featured in the initiative have described the impact it has had on their businesses. 

“Thank you so much to you and your team for this great opportunity,  
the awareness it has created for my business and the  
beekeeping industry has been explosive.”

Mokgadi Mabela, Native Nosi

“On behalf of Wiggle Digital, I would 
like to extend our sincere appreciation 
to eMedia Holdings for the outstanding 
exposure we got from the broadcast 
of our company on Forerunners. Our 
company has really gained a lot of brand 
credibility and managed to reach new 
customers across the country and Africa.”

Earl Mhlanga, Wiggle digital
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Airtime values

Date of broadcast e.tv airtime value eNCA airtime value Total airtime value

April: Wiggle Digital R678 000 R1 004 000 R1 682 000

April/May: Idwala Properties R535 000 R1 302 000 R1 837 000

May: Pimp My Book R736 000 R1 322 000 R2 058 000

May/June: TwoBop Apparel R978 000 R1 368 000 R2 346 000

June: Native Nosi R1 437 000 R1 092 000 R2 529 000

June/July: Mayine Gin R904 000 R832 000 R1 736 000

July: WP Timbers R989 000 R772 000 R1 761 000

July/August: Second Office R700 000 R884 000 R1 584 000

August: Flywheel Custom Chariots R170 000 R690 000 R860 000

August/September: Just Laundry R96 000 R526 000 R622 000

September: Sumting Fresh R28 000 R562 000 R590 000

September/October: Ecogift R94 000 R712 000 R806 000

October/November: Mindtrix Media R36 000 R276 000 R312 000

November: Spinach King R170 000 R246 000 R416 000

November: Sasapi Shoes R54 000 R48 000 R102 000

November: NQ Jewellery  R175 200 R175 200

December: Foodie Kings R368 000 R722 000 R1 090 000

December: Sasapi Shoes R931 000 R680 000 R1 611 000

January: Umgibe Farming Organics R763 000 R755 000 R1 518 000

January: Wiggle Digital  R371 000 R371 000

February: Umgibe Farming Organics R266 000 R127 000 R393 000

February: Wiggle Digital  R163 000 R163 000

February: The Egg Man R682 000 R716 000 R1 398 000

March: Murder Ink R912 000 R722 000 R1 634 000

Total cost per channel R11 527 000 R16 067 200 R27 594 200

“It has created so much exposure 
for our company, it has created new 

opportunities and opened doors.”

Mpodumo Doubada, Pimp My Book
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Human relations
Transforming our culture
The drive to create a culture that delivers operational excellence in a competitive, rapidly 
evolving industry and technology landscape has been at the centre of strategic human 
resource initiatives across the group. Businesses have continued to realign their workflows, 
structural efficiencies and critical skills and competencies ensuring that we have the right 
skills in the right places to deliver growth and profitability. 

Open dialogue, transparency and transformation is central to our dynamic employee value 
proposition. This is demonstrated by the changes in our employee profile, specifically at 
senior management levels.

The right skills in the right place
Our fast-paced environment encourages continuous development and creativity, where 
each person is challenged to embrace a combination of different skills and competencies. 
Our organisational development initiatives have refocused our internal capabilities, 
ensuring that the right skills are allocated in the right places to improve efficiencies 
and drive high performance. We continue to adapt our jobs across the business so that 
they are reflective of a changing industry, evolving business needs and offer a dynamic 
employee value proposition.

Our transformation journey
Transformation remains central to our dialogue in the business as we are continually 
exposed to different world perspectives that are shaping our broader society and personal 
dynamics in the workplace. As a group we encourage healthy, transparent interactions 
about transformation and diversity across all our internal processes.

Sustainability report continued
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For the year ended 31 March 2019, our employee profile reflects the progress we have made against the regional and national 
economically active population benchmarks, on a number of different metrics:

• 77% of our employees are from previously disadvantaged groups.

• 80% of our top management are African, Coloured and Indian.

• 44% of top and senior management are female.

While the recent restructuring processes have affected our statistics in comparison to last year, this will be addressed as we review 
and adapt our employment equity strategy.

Male Female
Foreign 

nationals

Occupational 
level African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White Male Female Total

Top management 0 2 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 4

Senior 
management 4 0 2 2 1 1 3 1 0 0 14

Professionally 
qualified 49 13 4 28 28 16 12 25 4 3 182

Skilled technical 212 55 26 62 151 48 19 54 11 0 638

Semi-skilled 57 10 1 8 43 22 3 5 5 2 156

Unskilled 35 3 0 1 39 3 0 0 2 2 85

Total permanent 357 83 34 102 262 90 37 85 22 7 1 079

Top management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior 
management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Professionally 
qualified 6 1 0 5 3 0 0 2 0 1 18

Skilled technical 10 3 0 1 1 1 2 1 2 0 21

Semi-skilled 26 6 0 0 24 8 0 0 2 0 66

Unskilled 11 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 1 14

Total non-
permanent 53 10 0 6 30 9 2 3 4 2 119

Grand total 410 93 34 108 292 99 39 88 26 9 1 198
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Corporate social responsibility 
eMedia Investments’ corporate social responsibility (CSR) 
arm, known as UNITe, aims to have a positive impact on the 
overall education and development of youth. UNITe invests 
and partners with organisations and individuals who contribute 
positively to the educational transformation of South Africa.

Through strategic partnerships with established organisations, 
UNITe is able to leverage the group’s resources to invest in 
various projects. 

In recent years, UNITe has narrowed its focus to uplifting 
children and young people by investing in education. In a bid to 
support the development of the broadcasting sector, UNITe has 
further refined this focus and aims to invest in sector-specific 
education initiatives over the next few years.

South African Heroes
eMedia Holdings takes great pleasure in celebrating the unsung 
heroes who are contributing to nation building projects by 
uplifting their own communities. 

South African Heroes is a series of inserts produced by the group 
and aired on its TV channels. Each month a new hero or an 
organisation is profiled and featured. By celebrating the work that 
they are doing we aim to inspire our viewers to make a difference 
in their own communities and shine a light on individuals 
and non-governmental organisations (NGOs) who are raising 
awareness around causes that need the nation’s attention. 

The following individuals and NGOs were profiled:

Collen Mathebula, featured as the April 2018 South African 
Hero. Collen started an afterschool project in a village outside 
Nelspruit, Mpumalanga, to assist children with homework. As an 
avid cyclist, Collen encouraged the children of his organisation, 
Zwel Kids Club, to start mountain biking. Many of the kids from 
the area who have taken part have won countless medals in 
competitions all over the province. 

Daewoo Davids is a teacher at Harvester Primary School in 
Westridge in the Cape Flats in Cape Town. As an accomplished 
drill coach, he started a drilling committee and entered a team 
from his school. The Harvester Primary drilling team has been 
the national champions for the past four years. 

LeadChange is an organisation started by Shaun Soko in 
Dobsonville, Soweto, which focuses on teaching computer skills 
and software to visually and learning impaired individuals from 
Dobsonville and surrounds.

Forerunners

Traveling throughout South Africa, the Values Campaign team 
profiles small to medium businesses as part of an enterprise 
development agreement with eMedia. The Values Campaign 
strives to promote different businesses in different industries to 
not only give a platform to small and medium-sized enterprises 
(SMEs), but also to showcase the hard work that goes into 
running a successful business in South Africa. 

Public service announcements 
The group uses its TV and radio platforms to provide awareness 
initiatives and non-profit organisations (NPOs) with valuable 
national media exposure at no fee. This is done by airing public 
service announcements (PSAs) on behalf of the NPOs on e.tv, 
eNCA, YFM and a number of channels on OpenView.

This year’s airtime beneficiaries came from various sectors, 
namely development, health, arts and culture, and education. 
UNITe was able to grant much needed exposure to Afrika 
Tikkun, Chaeli Campaign, Dogtown SA, Nelson Mandela 
Foundation, Tears Foundation, World Wildlife Fund, Sunflower 
Foundation, Red Bull Wings for Life, Rounda, Inclusive Education, 
The Lunchbox Fund, Casual Day, Talk sign, 1 000 drawings and 
CANSA.

During the year under review, e.tv, eNCA and OpenView were 
able to grant exposure worth over R7 million, R12 million and 
R9 million, respectively, to the NPOs. 

Sponsorships 
To complement our donations in kind, the group partners with 
various organisations who address causes that are directly 
aligned with UNITe’s strategic objectives. The process is actively 
managed and reviewed to ensure that the donations make a 
tangible difference in the lives of beneficiaries. 

Beneficiaries include:

Values Campaign 

Over the 2019 financial period, UNITe has committed to 
assisting as many South African Heroes, who align with the 
CSR department’s mission, as possible. 

During this period, Hillcrest AIDS Centre Trust was profiled as 
a South African Hero, and UNITe donated 100 pairs of school 
shoes worth R11 248 to the organisation. The shoes were 
bought from Sasapi Shoes who were featured as a forerunner. 
Yolanda Fynn, eMedia’s Durban receptionist, facilitated the 
handover on behalf of UNITe.

Through the Values Campaign, UNITe has produced inserts 
which profiled the Reach for a Dream, Hillcrest AIDS Centre 
Trust and the UNITe skills hub production workshop for the 
eNCA channel throughout the period.

Sustainability report continued
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Henriette dance project 

Serving as a behavioural reform tool, the Henriette dance project aims to get children absorbed back into the South African schooling 
system. UNITe has sponsored the implementation of this project at Kidz Haven, based in Boksburg, Johannesburg.

For one hour a week over 12 weeks the children of Kidz Haven are taught discipline, self-expression and to form routines through 
the classes provided. In total, R148 000 was initially budgeted towards this initiative for the 2019 financial year. To date, eNCA has 
donated R152 100, which has resulted in a majority of the children who take part in the bridging school being successfully placed in 
public schools and being accepted back into their communities.

Reach for a Dream 

During the festive season, UNITe partnered with 
Reach. The partnership took place in the shape 
of Christmas parties for the children cared for 
in the oncology ward of Baragwanath Hospital, 
Johannesburg, and the transplant ward of Red Cross 
Children’s Hospital, Cape Town.

Skills hub 

During the 2019 financial year, UNITe actively 
aligned itself with eMedia’s core business by 
creating the UNITe skills hub which directly 
contributes to education within the media field. 
Within the skills hub initiative, there are two 
programmes aimed at empowering South Africans 
and providing them with skills that can, later on, be 
used to uplift lives. 

1. Production workshop 
On 1 August 2018, UNITe launched the first in a planned series of workshops. The UNITe production workshop took place once 
a week over an eight-week period.

Moderated and facilitated by Footprint Media, the workshop took learners through a SETA accredited short programme with 
Sarienne Kersh as the lecturer. Topics ranging from time management and scriptwriting to TV show pitching were covered. 

Nine learners between the ages of 22 and 42 were selected to take part in the programme.

2. Internship programme training
During February 2019, UNITe contributed R111 680 towards the internal training of 32 Johannesburg-based eMedia investments 
interns. Over a two-day period, the interns were taken through various topics including interpersonal skills, team building, conflict 
management and stress management.
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Nature of business 
eMedia Holdings Limited (eMedia Holdings) is an investment holding company, incorporated in South 
Africa and listed on the JSE Limited under the media sector. 

Operations and business 
eMedia Holdings is a media investment company with media assets housed in eMedia Investments 
Proprietary Limited. These investments are constantly reviewed and new opportunities sought to 
complement them. 

State of affairs and profit for the period 
The group ended the year with a profit from continuing operations of R117.6 million compared to a loss 
in the prior year of R1 585 million. Included in the loss for the prior year is the impairment of goodwill of 
R1 501 million relating to the goodwill recognised on the acquisition of eMedia Investments Proprietary 
Limited in the year ended 31 March 2014. Also included in the prior year loss is the impairment of 
goodwill of subsidiary Coleske Artists of R31 million and an impairment of the investment in an 
associate company Da Vinci Media, of R64 million. If one excludes these impairments, the group would 
have shown a profit of R11 million in the prior year. The profit of R117.6 million shows an increase of 
969% on this adjusted figure.

After reflecting a loss of R34.6 million from discontinued operations, the group ended with a profit for 
the year of R83.1 million. The loss from discontinued operations stems mainly from the closure of the 
loss-making entities in the Silverline Three Sixty Group viz. Refinery Johannesburg and Moviemart. 

EBITDA for the group ended on R321.3 million compared to R231.2 million in the prior year, a 39% 
increase year-on-year. Headline earnings for the group amounted to a profit of R59.7 million compared 
to a loss of R12.5 million in the prior year.

The only asset of the group is a 67.69% interest in eMedia Investments, the company who owns e.tv, 
eNCA and OpenView.

Tough trading conditions continued for the free-to-air broadcasting industry with advertising revenue 
under increased pressure. Despite this, the group showed an increase of 4% in advertising revenue from 
R1 573 million to R1 638.8 million. This was in some way assisted by the increase in market share of 
the group from 18.1% in March 2018 to 24.1% in March 2019. Cost of sales, which mainly consists of 
the cost of content in the case of e.tv and employee costs in the case of eNCA, increased by 1% from 
R1 199 million to R1 211 million. Administrative and other expenses have been well maintained and 
showed a slight decrease of 0.9% year-on-year. While the group continues to invest in the OpenView 
platform which remains loss making, the above factors contributed to the turnaround in profits.

As mentioned above, one of the main contributors to the increased profit has been the increase in market 
share. The e.tv share in prime time increased from 15% in March 2018 to 19.2% in March 2019. This was 
driven by the introduction of Imbewu: The Seed at 21:30 and improved performances from the other local 
dailies, Scandal and Rhythm City.

The reduction in the movie slots and a thorough analysis of which movies work on the channel have also 
assisted with the improvement in the performance of e.tv. Management continues to look at ways of 
improving the schedule and has a few exciting initiatives early in the new financial year.

OpenView (inclusive of the e.tv multi-channel business) earned advertising revenue of R131.8 million 
and incurred content costs of R255.7 million, up from R173.6 million the previous year. The increase 
is attributable to the launch of Open News as well as the addition of an Afrikaans block on eExtra and 
the launch of eReality in November. These content changes have increased the market share in other 
eChannels from 2.6% in March 2018 to 4.6% in March 2019. Operating costs, including retail subsidies 
of R55.3 million amounted to R184.5 million, compared to R193.6 million the prior year. The reduction 
is mainly due to the reduction in subsidy from R150 to R75 per box in October as well as the exit from 
the SES contract. Despite the reduction in subsidy, OpenView set-top box activations continue to grow 
at an average of 35 000 per month. At the end of the year, 1 574 395 (2018: 1 149 217) boxes have 
been activated and R55.3 million (2018: R74.5 million) has been spent on retail subsidies. The financial 
year also saw the launch of PVR functionality for the OpenView box and the new financial year will see 
the launch of a few more technical initiatives in Platco.

Despite eNCA only being on some of the premium DStv bouquets, while SABC News is on all the 
bouquets and the DTT platform, eNCA continues to be the most watched 24-hour news channel in 
the country with 45% of the market share. While advertising revenue remains under pressure, costs are 
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Directors’ report continued

being well maintained in light of the reduced DStv contract in 
its second year.

Certain of the group’s other subsidiaries have performed 
satisfactorily for the year. These include Sasani Africa and 
Moonlighting, while other assets have underperformed but 
shown improvement towards the latter part of the financial 
year. Management continues to review non-core and peripheral 
businesses and will exit these businesses when opportunities 
present themselves. To this end, certain assets were closed in 
Refinery Johannesburg and MovieMart, while other non-core 
assets were sold during the year. These include Da Vinci Learning, 
Coleske Artists, Afrikaans is Groot and Strika Entertainment.

The TV market is facing numerous technology and viewership 
challenges which will require the group to continually assess its 
strategic alternatives. Our investment in OpenView provides the 
group with strategic flexibility and is part of our plan to address 
the challenges of the impending digital migration transition. We 
continue to engage government on its DTT and DTH plans. With 
the sale and our closure of certain non-core assets during the year, 
the group is now focused on its core businesses of broadcasting, 
content creation and a platform and technology provider.

Dividends 
The directors of eMedia Holdings declared a final dividend for 
the year ended 31 March 2019 of 8 cents per share (2018: nil).

Share capital 
During the year under review, 444 418 N ordinary shares 
(0.1%) were bought back by the company from employees who 
resigned and held shares on loan account. As at 31 March 2019, 
these shares are held as treasury shares by the company.

Directorate 
The directors of the company appear on pages 8 and 9.

Chief executive officer, Mahomed Khalik Sherrif, was appointed 
to the board on 13 November 2018 after the resignation of 
the previous chief executive officer, Andre van der Veen, who 
resigned on 30 November 2018. Yunis Shaik was appointed to 
the board on 3 July 2018.

The board of the company comprises John Copelyn (non- 
executive chairperson), Mahomed Khalik Sherrif (chief executive 
officer), Antonio Lee (financial director), Kevin Govender 
(non-executive director), Yunis Shaik (non-executive director). 
Loganathan Govender (lead independent non-executive 
director, member of the audit and risk, and social and ethics 
committees), Rachel Watson (independent non-executive 
director, member of the audit and risk, remuneration, and social 
and ethics committees) and Elias Mphande (independent 
non-executive director, member of the audit and risk, and 
remuneration committees).

• Gender diversity

The board of directors has adopted a policy on gender 
diversity at board level and agreed on voluntary targets.  
The board is currently represented by 13% female members, 
all of whom are women of colour. The group remains 
committed to achieve their target of 25%.

• Race diversity

The board of directors has adopted a policy on race diversity 
at board level. The voluntary target was set at a majority of 
members being people of colour which was met.

Company secretary 
HCI Managerial Services Proprietary Limited held the 
office of the company secretary for the 12 months ended 
31 March 2019. The secretary has an arm’s length relationship 
with the board of directors. The name, business and postal 
address of the company secretary are set out on page 67. 

The board has assessed the competence, qualifications and 
experience of the company secretary and has satisfied itself 
that these are met.

Auditors 
BDO South Africa Incorporated will continue in office in 
accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act, with 
Garron Chaitowitz rotating off and Kathryn Luck as the 
designated auditor subject to approval by the shareholders at 
the annual general meeting of the company. 

Significant shareholders 
The company’s significant ordinary shareholder is Fulela Trade 
and Invest 81 Proprietary Limited and significant N ordinary 
shares is HCI Invest 6 Holdco Proprietary Limited.

Special resolutions 
The following special resolutions were passed by the 
company’s shareholders at the annual general meeting 
held on 22 October 2018:

• Granting the directors, subject to the provisions of the 
Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited, authority to allot 
and issue a portion of the authorised but unissued shares, as 
the directors in their discretion think fit;

• Approval of the fees payable to non-executive directors 
for their services as directors or as members of the board 
sub-committees in respect of the period 23 October 2018 
until the date of the next annual general meeting; and

• Granting the company and the subsidiaries of the company 
a general authority in terms of the Listings Requirements 
of the JSE Limited for the acquisition by the company, or a 
subsidiary of the company, of ordinary issued shares issued 
by the company.

Special resolutions of subsidiaries 
The statutory information relating to special resolutions passed by 
subsidiaries is available from the registered office of the company. 

The following special resolution was passed by the company’s 
shareholders at the general meeting of shareholders held on 
6 December 2018: 

• General authorisation of financial assistance to the extent 
required by sections 44 and 45 of the Act, the board of 
directors of the company may, subject to compliance with 
the requirements of the company’s MOI and the Act, 
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authorise the company to provide direct or indirect financial 
assistance by way of a loan, guarantee, the provision of 
security or otherwise, subject to the provisions as set out in 
the resolution.

Auditor’s report 
The consolidated annual financial statements have been audited 
by BDO South Africa Incorporated and its unqualified audit 
report on the comprehensive annual financial statements and 
the summarised annual financial statements is available for 
inspection at the registered office of the company and at  
www.emediaholdings.co.za.

Shareholding of directors 
The shareholding of directors of the company and their 
participation in the share incentive scheme and in the issued 
share capital of the company as at 31 March 2019, are set out 
in the report of the remuneration committee on page 32. 

Directors’ emoluments 
Directors’ emoluments incurred by the company and its 
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out  
in the report of the remuneration committee on page 32  
and in the notes to the annual financial statements at  
www.emediaholdings.co.za. 

Associates, joint ventures and 
subsidiaries 
Details of the company’s subsidiaries are set out in annexure 
A in the annual financial statements available on the company 
website at www.emediaholdings.co.za.

Borrowing powers 
There are no limits placed on borrowing in terms of the 
memorandum of incorporation. Certain companies in the 
group have entered into various loan agreements with 
providers of loan finance. These loan agreements include 
various covenants and undertakings by companies in the 
group, which may restrict the group’s borrowing powers. 
Details of these covenants and undertakings are available 
from the registered office of the company. 

Litigation statement 
There are no material legal or arbitration proceedings (including 
proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the 
directors of eMedia Holdings are aware), which may have 
or have had, during the 12-month period preceding the last 
practicable date, a material effect on the financial position of 
eMedia Holdings. 

Material change 
There has been no material change in the financial or trading 
position of the eMedia Holdings group since the publication of 
its provisional results for the year ended 31 March 2019. 

Subsequent events 
Management is currently investigating the possibilities of 
exiting their investment in Jacana Media. No formal decision 
has been reached as yet. A decision was made to close down 
Crystal Brook Distribution, the anticipated finalisation date is 
end of August 2019.

Other than as previously detailed in this report, the directors 
are not aware of any event or circumstance occurring between 
the reporting date and the date of this report that materially 
affects the results of the group or company for the year ended 
31 March 2019 or the financial position at that date.

Approval of annual financial 
statements
The directors of eMedia Holdings Limited are responsible 
for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the 
financial statements of the company and of the group and for 
other information contained in this integrated annual report. 
The summarised audited financial statements set out on 
pages 49 to 57 and the annual financial statements for the year 
ended 31 March 2019, available on the company website at  
www.emediaholdings.co.za, have been prepared in accordance 
with IFRS and include amounts based on prudent judgements 
and estimates by management. 

The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the 
financial statements. The directors have no reason to believe 
that the group or any company within the group will not be 
a going concern in the foreseeable future based on forecasts 
and available cash resources. These financial statements 
support the viability of the company and the group. The 
financial statements have been audited by the independent 
auditing firm, BDO South Africa Incorporated, which was given 
unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, 
including minutes of all meetings of shareholders, the board of 
directors and committees of the board.

The directors believe that all representations made to 
the independent auditors during the audit were valid and 
appropriate. The directors take full responsibility for the 
preparation of the summarised report and that the financial 
information has been correctly extracted from the underlying 
annual financial statements.

The annual financial statements for the year ended 
31 March 2019, which are available on the company website, 
were approved by the board of directors on 29 July 2019 and 
are signed on its behalf by: 

 
Mahomed Khalik Sherrif    Antonio Lee
Chief executive officer   Financial director 

29 July 2019
Cape Town 
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We certify that eMedia Holdings has lodged with 
the Registrar of Companies, for the financial year 
ended 31 March 2019, all such returns and notices 
as are required by a public company in terms of the 
Companies Act of South Africa and that such returns 
are true, correct and up to date.

HCI Managerial Services 
Proprietary Limited

HCI Managerial Services Proprietary Limited
Company secretary

29 July 2019
Cape Town 
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Summarised audited consolidated 
statement of financial position

Audited
31 March 

2019
R’000

Audited
31 March

2018
R’000

Assets
Non-current assets 5 779 984 5 726 730 

Property, plant and equipment  848 033  784 492 

Plant and equipment  230 156  183 785 
Owner-occupied property  617 877  600 707 

Intangible assets 2 451 759 2 537 697 
Goodwill 2 222 048 2 153 800 
Equity-accounted investees  153 843  143 495 
Long-term receivables  24 726  14 398 
Deferred tax assets  79 575  92 848 

Current assets 1 359 865 1 368 035 

Inventories  14 040  9 714 
Programming rights  792 611  870 674 
Trade and other receivables  452 023  384 408 
Current tax assets  17 864  16 950 
Cash and cash equivalents  83 327  86 289 

Assets of disposal groups  6 342  262 792 

Total assets 7 146 191 7 357 557 

Equity and liabilities  

Total equity 5 604 947 5 558 961 

Stated capital 6 762 797 6 762 797 
Treasury shares (14 018) (10 870)
Reserves (2 148 156) (2 189 960)

Equity attributable to owners of the company 4 600 623 4 561 967 
Non-controlling interest 1 004 324  996 994 

Non-current liabilities  650 362  684 252 

Deferred tax liabilities  526 630  533 342 
Borrowings  123 732  150 910 

Current liabilities  887 833 1 009 169 

Current tax liabilities  6 219  11 512 
Current portion of borrowings  323 092  409 452 
Trade and other payables  520 639  587 176 
Bank overdraft  37 883  1 029 

Liabilities of disposal groups  3 049  105 175 

Total liabilities 1 541 244 1 798 596 

Total equity and liabilities 7 146 191 7 357 557 

Net asset value 4 600 623 4 561 967 
Net asset value per share after treasury shares (cents)  1 038  1 027 Su
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12 months
31 March

2019
R’000

12 months*
31 March

2018
R’000

Continuing operations
Revenue 2 405 548 2 318 357 
Cost of sales (1 210 504) (1 199 371)

Gross profit 1 195 044 1 118 986 
Other income  25 562  19 842 
Administrative and other expenses (899 317) (907 663)

Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation, amortisation and impairments  321 289  231 165 
Depreciation, amortisation and impairments (138 593) (1 748 738)

Operating profit/(loss)  182 696 (1 517 573)
Finance income  5 997  6 910 
Finance expenses (31 375) (44 175)
Share of profit of equity-accounted investees, net of taxation  2 774  1 289 
Surplus on disposal of associate 14 275 –

Profit/(loss) before taxation  174 367 (1 553 549)
Taxation (56 751) (32 028)

Profit/(loss) for the period from continuing operations  117 616 (1 585 577)
Discontinued operations
Loss for the period from discontinued operations, net of taxation (34 558) (27 343)

Profit/(loss) for the period  83 058 (1 612 920)
Other comprehensive income, net of related taxation   
Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss   
Foreign operations – foreign currency translation differences (2 307) (6 735)
Reclassification of foreign currency differences on disposal (1 005) (723)

Other comprehensive loss, net of taxation (3 312) (7 458)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period  79 746 (1 620 378)

Profit/(loss) attributable to:   
Owners of the company  48 149 (1 578 773)
Non-controlling interest  34 909 (34 147)

  83 058 (1 612 920)

Total comprehensive income attributable to:   
Owners of the company  45 907 (1 583 821)
Non-controlling interest  33 839 (36 557)

  79 746 (1 620 378)

* Prior year restated for discontinued operations.

Summarised audited consolidated statement of profit  
or loss and comprehensive income 
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Summarised audited consolidated statement of 
changes in equity

Equity 
owners
R’000

Non-
controlling

interest
R’000

Total 
reserves

R’000

Group
Balance 31 March 2017 6 155 143  1 026 542  7 181 685 
Loss  (1 578 773)  (34 147)  (1 612 920)
Other comprehensive loss – foreign currency translation reserve (5 049)  (2 409)  (7 458)
Share buyback  (3 649)  (345)  (3 994)
Change in ownership  (5 705)  5 705 –
Disposal of share interest –  1 648  1 648 

Balance 31 March 2018  4 561 967  996 994  5 558 961

Profit  48 149  34 909  83 058
Other comprehensive loss – foreign currency translation reserve  (2 242)  (1 070)  (3 312)
Share buyback  (3 148) –  (3 148)
Common control transaction  (4 103) –  (4 103)
Disposal of share interest –  (26 509)  (26 509)

Balance 31 March 2019  4 600 623  1 004 324  5 604 947

Stated
capital
R’000

Treasury
shares
R’000

Other
reserves

R’000

Retained
 income

R’000

Group
Balance 31 March 2017  6 762 797  (7 221)  (7 488)  (592 945)
Loss  – – –  (1 578 773)
Other comprehensive loss – foreign currency translation reserve – –  (5 049) –
Share buyback  –  (3 649) – –
Change in ownership – – –  (5 705)
Disposal of share interest  – – – – 

Balance 31 March 2018  6 762 797  (10 870)  (12 537)  (2 177 423)

Profit – – –  48 149
Other comprehensive loss – foreign currency translation reserve – –  (2 242)  – 
Share buyback –  (3 148) –  – 
Common control transaction – –  (4 103) –
Disposal of share interest – – – –

Balance 31 March 2019  6 762 797  (14 018)  (18 882)  (2 129 274)
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Audited
31 March

2019
R’000

Audited
31 March

2018
R’000

Cash from operating activities

Cash flows from operating activities 293 772  109 286 

Net finance costs (24 290) (38 777)
Taxes paid (64 334) (49 543)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 205 148  20 966 

Cash used in investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (99 561) (56 962)

Acquisition of plant and equipment (99 561) (54 449)
Acquisition of owner-occupied properties – (2 513)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  6 222  27 670 

Book value of assets disposed  8 753  2 298 
(Deficit)/surplus on disposal (2 531)  25 372 

Movement in financial assets (3 198)  2 153 
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash required (4 996) –
Deficit on disposal of subsidiaries (8 750) –
Proceeds on disposal of investment  14 275 
Net cash flows of discontinued operations –  16 928 
Additions to intangible assets (6 013) (22 376)
Loans advanced to equity accounting investees (7 577) (9 964)

Net cash used in investing activities (109 598) (42 551)

Cash used in financing activities
Repayment of borrowings (267 180) (188 424)
Settlement of forward exchange contracts – (11 743)
Borrowings raised  100 000  150 188 
Share buyback – (3 649)
Proceeds from disposal of shares to non-controlling interest –  2 570 
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest – (345)

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities (167 180) (51 403)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (71 677) (72 988)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  116 656  192 510 
Effect of movements in exchange rates on cash held  418 (2 866)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  45 444  116 656 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:
Cash and cash equivalents  83 327  117 685 

Bank balances  83 327  86 289 
Cash in disposal group assets held for sale –  31 396 

Bank overdrafts (37 883) (1 029)

  45 444  116 656 

Summarised audited consolidated statement of cash flows
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Headline earnings

For the year ended 31 March 2019

Audited
Gross
R’000

Audited
Net

R’000

Earnings attributable to equity owners of the parent  48 149 
IAS 16 loss on disposal of plant and equipment  2 531  1 233 
IAS 16 impairment of plant and equipment  3 605  1 757 
IAS 21 foreign currency translation reserve reclassified to profit or loss (1 005) (680)
IAS 28 gain on disposal of associates (14 275) (9 663)
IAS 38 impairment of intangible assets  14 579  7 378 
IFRS 3 impairment of goodwill  16 604  11 239 
IFRS 10 loss on the change of control of subsidiary  386  262 

Headline earnings  59 675 

For the year ended 31 March 2018

Audited
Gross

R’000

Audited
Net*

R’000

Earnings attributable to equity owners of the parent (1 578 773)
IAS 16 gains on disposal of plant and equipment (1 864) (1 342)
IAS 16 impairment of plant and equipment  108  77 
IAS 21 foreign currency translation reserve reclassified to profit or loss (489) (489)
IAS 28 impairment of associates and joint ventures  43 563  43 563 
IAS 38 impairment of intangible assets  8 307  4 048 
IFRS 3 impairment of goodwill 1 522 677 1 522 677 
IFRS 10 gain on the loss of control of a subsidiary (3 215) (2 238)

Headline earnings (12 477)

* Prior year restated for discontinued operations.
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Statistics per share

Audited
31 March

2019

Audited*
31 March

2018

Basic earnings (R’000)
Earnings/(loss)  48 149 (1 578 773)

Continuing operations  71 540 (1 560 265)
Discontinued operations (23 391) (18 508)

Headline earnings/(loss)  59 675 (12 477)

Continuing operations  70 232  8 752 
Discontinued operations (10 557) (21 229)

Basic earnings per share (cents)
Earnings/(loss)  10.85  (355.19)

Continuing operations  16.12  (351.03)
Discontinued operations  (5.27)  (4.16)

Headline earnings per share (cents)
Earnings/(loss)  13.45  (2.81)

Continuing operations  15.83  1.97 
Discontinued operations  (2.38)  (4.78)

Weighted average number of shares in issue – 31 March (000)  443 675  444 481 

Issued shares as at 1 April (000)  444 153  444 597 
Effect of own shares held (000) (478) (116)

Net number of shares in issue – 31 March (000)  443 354  444 152 

Number of shares in issue – 31 March (000)  445 738  445 737 
Number of treasury shares in issue – 31 March (000) (2 384) (1 585)

* Prior year restated for discontinued operations.

During the year, the company entered into a share buyback from group employees who resigned, resulting in the buyback of 
2 384 074 (2018: 1 584 912) N ordinary shares. The share buyback transaction is accounted for as treasury shares in the statement 
of changes in equity.
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Basis of preparation and accounting policies
The results for the year ended 31 March 2019 have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the disclosure requirements of IAS 34, the South African Institute 
of Chartered Accountants (SAICA) Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices 
Committee, the requirements of the South African Companies Act, 2008, and the JSE Limited Listings 
Requirements. The accounting policies applied by the group in the preparation of the summarised 
audited consolidated results are consistent with those applied by the group in its consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018, except for the adoption of IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments and IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. There was no material impact on 
the financial results identified based on management’s assessment of the new standards adopted. As 
required by the JSE Limited Listings Requirements, the group reports headline earnings in accordance 
with Circular 4/2018: Headline Earnings as issued by SAICA. The financial information was prepared 
under the supervision of the financial director, Antonio Lee CA(SA).

Discontinued operations
During the year ended 31 March 2019, a decision was made to close all loss-making entities 
within the Silverline Three Sixty Proprietary Limited Group. These included The Refinery 
(Johannesburg) and MovieMart. A further decision was made to dispose of Strika Entertainment, 
Coleske Artists and Afrikaans is Groot at 31 March 2019. The results of the operations were 
reclassified to discontinued operations in the statement of comprehensive income and in assets 
and liabilities of disposal groups held for sale in the statement of financial position. 

Operations reported as disposal group assets/liabilities held for sale at 31 March 2019 relate to 
the Longkloof group of companies. 

Discontinued operations as disclosed in the statement of comprehensive income consist of 
the following:

Audited
31 March

2019
R’000

Restated*
31 March

2018
R’000

Revenue
e.Botswana Proprietary Limited and e.tv Botswana 
Proprietary Limited –  1 537 
Silverline Three Sixty Proprietary Limited  22 096  39 171 
Coleske Artists Proprietary Limited  1 312  20 429 
Afrikaans is Groot Show Proprietary Limited  777  31 618 
Strika Entertainment Proprietary Limited  39 542  31 453 

Total revenue  63 727  124 208 

Loss from discontinued operations
Longkloof Limited Group  (1 479)  2 208 
e.Botswana Proprietary Limited and e.tv Botswana 
Proprietary Limited

–  3 770

Lalela Music Proprietary Limited and Lalela Music LLC – 3 976 
Silverline Three Sixty Proprietary Limited  (42 342)  (34 644)
Coleske Artists Proprietary Limited  (608)  (1 435)
Afrikaans is Groot Show Proprietary Limited  2 392  563 
Strika Entertainment Proprietary Limited  7 392  2 818 

Total loss  (34 645)  (22 744)

* Prior year restated for discontinued operations.
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Disposal group held for sale as disclosed in the statement of financial position consist of the following:

Property,
plant and

equipment
R’000

Intangible
assets and 

goodwill
R’000

Other
assets
R’000

Total
assets
R’000

Assets
31 March 2019
Longkloof Limited Group  6 342  6 342 

Total assets – –  6 342  6 342 

Assets
31 March 2018
Silverline Three Sixty Proprietary Limited  85 643  91 782  85 367  262 792 

Total assets  85 643  91 782  85 367  262 792 

Notes to the summarised audited  
consolidated results continued

Discontinued operations (continued)

Financial
liabilities

R’000

Other
liabilities

R’000

Total
liabilities

R’000

Liabilities
31 March 2019
Longkloof Limited Group  3 049  3 049 

Total liabilities –  3 049  3 049 

Audited
31 March

2018
R’000

Liabilities
31 March 2018
Silverline Three Sixty Proprietary Limited  105 175 

Total liabilities  105 175 

Changes in comparatives
The results of discontinued operations have been separately disclosed on the face of the statement of comprehensive income.

Related party transactions
During the year, in the ordinary course of business, certain companies within the group entered into transactions with one another. 
These intra-group transactions have been eliminated on consolidation. Transactions with Hosken Consolidated Investments 
Limited (HCI) (ultimate holding company), entities in which HCI has an interest, Remgro Limited (Remgro) (shareholder in eMedia 



eMedia Holdings integrated annual report 2019 57

Signed for and on behalf of the board on 29 July 2019 by: 

   
Mahomed Khalik Sherrif     Antonio Lee
Chief executive officer     Financial director

Audited
31 March

2019
R’000

Audited
31 March

2018
R’000

Income/(expense) transaction values with related parties
HCI – management fees paid  (20 429)  (16 759)
Venfin – management fees paid  (2 002)  (1 888)
GRIPP Advisory – internal audit service fee  (2 538)  – 
Interest income – interest-bearing loans to employees  107 
Interest income – unwinding of employee loans at 0% interest  736  1 041 

Balances owing (to)/by related parties
HCI – working capital loan  (8 602)  (8 602)
HCI Managerial Services Proprietary Limited  (1 747)  (1 700)
Venfin – loan relating to the acquisition of Longkloof Limited  (156 605)  (156 605)
Cape Town Film Studios – associate loan  118 728  111 459 
Dreamworld Management Company – associate loan  12 340  12 029 
Employees of the group – loans relating to company shares held by employees  9 351  11 763 

Investments Proprietary Limited), and Venfin Media Investments Proprietary Limited (Venfin) (a wholly owned subsidiary of Remgro) 
are included in the following table:
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the annual general meeting (AGM) of the 
company will be held on Thursday, 12 September 2019 at 10:00 at the offices 
of Hosken Consolidated Investments Limited, Suite 801, 76 Regent Road, Sea 
Point, 8005. Registration will start at 9:30.

This document is available in English only. The proceedings at the meeting will 
be conducted in English.

General instructions and information
The board of directors of the company (the board) determined, in accordance 
with section 59 of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended (the Act), that 
the record date for the purpose of determining when persons must be recorded 
as shareholders in the securities register of the company in order to be entitled 
to receive the notice of AGM is Friday, 19 July 2019. The board determined that 
the record date for purposes of determining which shareholders of the company 
are entitled to participate in and vote at the AGM is Friday, 6 September 2019. 
Accordingly, only shareholders who are registered in the securities register of 
the company on Friday, 6 September 2019 will be entitled to participate in and 
vote at the AGM.

All shareholders are encouraged to attend, speak and vote at the AGM and 
are entitled to appoint a proxy to attend, speak and vote at the meeting 
in place of the shareholder. The proxy duly appointed to act on behalf of 
a shareholder, need not also be a shareholder of the company. In order to 
facilitate proceedings at the AGM, shareholders intending to appoint a proxy 
are requested to do so as soon as is reasonably practical.

If you hold certificated shares (i.e. you have not dematerialised your shares in 
the company) or are registered as an “own name” dematerialised shareholder 
(i.e. you have specifically instructed your Central Securities Depository 
Participant (CSDP) to hold your shares in your own name on the company’s 
sub-register), then:

• you may attend and vote at the AGM; alternatively;

• you may appoint one or more proxies (who need not be shareholders 
of the company) to represent you at the AGM by completing the 
attached form of proxy and returning it to the office of the transfer 
secretaries (Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited, 
Rosebank Towers,15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank 2196 (PO Box 61051, 
Marshalltown, 2017), to be received by no later than 10:00 on Wednesday, 
11 September 2019 for administrative purposes, or delivering such form by 
hand thereafter to the company secretary. Before the proxy exercises any 
rights of the shareholder at the meeting; and/or 

• you may participate in the AGM by way of electronic participation as 
stipulated in this notice.

Please note that the company intends to make provision for shareholders of the 
company, or their proxies, to participate in the AGM by way of video conference 
in Johannesburg. Should you wish to participate in the AGM by way of video 
conference as aforesaid, you are required to give notice of such proposed 
participation to the company at its registered office or at the office of the 
transfer secretaries by no later than 10:00 on Tuesday, 10 September 2019. In 
order for the notice to be valid, it must be accompanied by the following:

• If the shareholder is an individual, a certified copy of his identity document 
and/or passport;

• If the shareholder is not an individual, a certified copy of the resolution 
adopted by the relevant entity authorising the representative to represent 
the shareholder at the AGM and a certified copy of the authorised 
representative’s identity document and/or passport; and

• A valid email address and/or facsimile number for the purpose of receiving 
details of the video conference facility that will be made available.
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Upon receipt of the aforesaid notice and documents, the 
company shall use its reasonable endeavours to notify you of 
the relevant details of the video conference facilities available in 
Johannesburg at which you can participate in the AGM by way 
of electronic communication.

Please note that if you own dematerialised shares (i.e. have 
replaced the paper share certificates representing the shares 
with electronic records of ownership under the JSE Limited’s 
electronic settlement system, Share Transactions Totally Electronic 
(STRATE) held through a CSDP or broker (or their nominee) and 
are not registered as an “own name dematerialised shareholder”, 
then you are not a registered shareholder of the company, your 
CSDP or broker (or their nominee) would be. Accordingly, in these 
circumstances, subject to the mandate between yourself and your 
CSDP or broker, as the case may be:

• if you wish to participate in the AGM (either being physically 
present at the meeting or by way of electronic participation), 
you must contact your CSDP or broker, as the case may 
be, and obtain the relevant letter of representation from it; 
alternatively

• if you are unable to attend the AGM but wish to be 
represented at the meeting, you must contact your CSDP or 
broker, as the case may be, and furnish it with your voting 
instructions in respect of the AGM and/or request it to 
appoint a proxy. You must not complete the attached form 
of proxy. The instructions must be provided in accordance 
with the mandate between yourself and your CSDP or broker, 
as the case may be, within the time period required by your 
CSDP or broker, as the case may be.

CSDPs, brokers or their nominees, as the case may be, recorded 
in the company’s sub-register as holders of dematerialised 
shares held on behalf of an investor/beneficial owner in terms 
of STRATE should, when authorised in terms of their mandate 
or instructed to do so by the person on behalf of whom they 
hold dematerialised shares, vote by either appointing a duly 
authorised representative to attend and vote at the AGM 
or by completing the attached form of proxy in accordance 
with the instructions thereon and returning it to the office of 
the company’s transfer secretaries (Computershare Investor 
Services Proprietary Limited, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank 
2196 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2017) to be received by 
10:00 on Wednesday, 11 September 2019 for administrative 
purposes, or delivering such form by hand thereafter to the 
company secretary, before the proxy exercises any rights 
of the shareholder at the meeting. In order to facilitate 
proceedings at the AGM, shareholders intending to appoint a 
proxy are requested to do so as soon as is reasonably practical.

In accordance with section 63(1) of the Act, participants at the 
AGM will be required to provide proof of identification to the 
reasonable satisfaction of the chairperson of the AGM and must 
accordingly provide a copy of their identity document, passport 
or driver’s licence at the AGM for verification.

Shareholders of the company that are companies, that wish to 
participate in the AGM, may authorise any person to act as its 
representative at the AGM.

Voting at the AGM
On a poll, shareholders of ordinary shares of no par value are 
entitled to 100 votes per ordinary share and the holders of 
N ordinary shares of no par value are entitled to one vote per 
N ordinary share present in person (or by way of electronic 
participation) or represented by proxy at the AGM and shall be 
entitled to one vote per ordinary share held by such shareholder.

Unless otherwise specifically provided in this notice of AGM, 
for any of the ordinary resolutions to be adopted, 50% of 
the voting rights plus 1 vote exercised on each such ordinary 
resolution must be exercised in favour thereof. For any special 
resolutions to be adopted, at least 75% of the voting rights 
exercised on each special resolution must be exercised in favour 
thereof.

Details of directors, shareholders, share capital and analysis of 
shareholders, no-change statement and directors’ responsibility 
statement are described below.

The integrated annual report of which this notice of AGM forms 
part, provides details of the directors and management of the 
company, including: 

• brief CVs of the directors nominated for re-election on page 8;

• the major shareholders of the company on page 15;

• the directors’ interests in securities on page 17; and

• the share capital of the company in note 15 of the annual 
financial statements (available on www.emediaholdings.co.za) 
and an analysis of shareholders on pages 15 and 16.

No-change statement
Other than the facts and developments reported on in the 
integrated annual report, there have been no material changes 
to the company and its subsidiaries (the group) financial 
or trading position, nor are there any legal or arbitration 
proceedings that may materially affect the financial position of 
the group between the signature date of the audit report and 
the date of this notice.

Directors’ responsibility statement
The directors, whose names appear on page 8 of the 
integrated annual report, collectively and individually, accept 
full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given in 
this notice and certify that, to the best of their knowledge and 
belief, there are no facts that have been omitted which would 
make any statement in this notice false or misleading, and that 
all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made 
and that the integrated annual report and this notice of AGM 
contain all information required by the Listings Requirements of 
the JSE (JSE Listings Requirements).
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Purpose of AGM
The purpose of the AGM is for the following business to be 
transacted, and to consider and, if approved, to pass with 
or without modification, the following ordinary and special 
resolutions, in the manner required by the company’s 
memorandum of incorporation (MOI), and the Act, as read with 
the JSE Listings Requirements.

Presentation of the audited annual financial statements of 
the company, including the reports of the directors, external 
auditors and the audit and risk committee, for the year ended 
31 March 2019. In terms of the Act, the audited annual 
financial statements of the company (including the reports of 
the directors and the audit and risk committee) for the year 
ended 31 March 2019 as approved by the board of directors will 
be presented to the shareholders of the company.

1. A summary of the audited annual financial 
statements of the group is set out on pages 49 to 

57 of the integrated annual report, of which this notice of 

AGM forms part. This summary is not exhaustive and the 

complete annual financial statements of the group should be 

read in their entirety for a full appreciation of their contents. 

The complete audited annual financial statements of the 

group, including the unmodified audit opinion, are available 

on the company’s website at www.emediaholdings.co.za. 

Alternatively, shareholders of the company may request and 

obtain a copy of the complete annual financial statements of 

the group in person, at no charge, at the registered office of 

eMedia Holdings (5 Summit Road, Dunkeld West, Hyde Park, 

2196) during office hours.

2. Presentation of social and ethics 
committee report

 In accordance with Regulation 43 of the Companies 
Regulations, 2011, the company’s social and ethics 
committee report for the financial year ended 31 March 
2019, prepared and approved by the company’s social and 
ethics committee and set out on page 35 of the integrated 
annual report, of which this notice of AGM forms part, will 
be presented to the shareholders of the company. Any 
specific questions to the social and ethics committee may 
be sent to the company secretary prior to the AGM.

3. Ordinary resolution number 1 (1.1 to 1.4): 
Election of directors
3.1 Ordinary resolution number 1.1: Election of 

John Copelyn as director

“Resolved that John Copelyn be and is hereby elected 
as a director of the company.”

3.2 Ordinary resolution number 1.2: Election of 
Elias Mphande as director

“Resolved that Elias Mphande be and is hereby elected 
as a director of the company.”

3.3 Ordinary resolution number 1.3: Election of 
Rachel Watson as director

“Resolved that Rachel Watson be and is hereby elected 
as a director of the company.”

Explanatory note

John Copelyn, Elias Mphande and Rachel Watson retire 
as directors in accordance with the company’s MOI 
but, being eligible, each offer themselves for re-election 
as a director of the company.

The board has considered the proposed election of 
John Copelyn, Elias Mphande and Rachel Watson and 
recommends that they be re-elected as directors of the 
company. Brief CVs of the abovementioned directors 
are on page 8 of the integrated annual report, of which 
this notice of AGM forms part.

The reason for ordinary resolution numbers 1.1 to 
1.3 is to propose the re-election of John Copelyn, 
Elias Mphande and Rachel Watson who have retired 
as directors in accordance with the company’s 
MOI. These elections will be conducted by a series 
of separate votes in respect of each candidate. 
Accordingly, the shareholders are requested to 
consider and if deemed fit, to re-elect John Copelyn, 
Elias Mphande and Rachel Watson by way of passing 
the ordinary resolutions set out above.

3.4 Ordinary resolution number 1.4: Election of 
Mahomed Khalik Sherrif as director.

“Resolved that Mahomed Khalik Sherrif be and is 
hereby elected as a director of the company.”

Explanatory note

The board has considered the proposed election of 
Mahomed Khalik Sherrif and recommends that he be 
elected as director of the company.

A brief CV of Mahomed Khalik Sherrif is on page 8 of 
the integrated annual report, of which this notice of 
AGM forms part.

The reason for ordinary resolution number 1.4 is to 
elect the directors of the company who were appointed 
during the course of the year and who retire as director 
in accordance with the Act. Accordingly, the shareholders 
are requested to consider and if deemed fit, to re-elect 
Mahomed Khalik Sherrif by way of passing the ordinary 
resolution set out above.

Notice of annual general meeting continued
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4. Ordinary resolution number 2:  
Reappointment of auditors
“Resolved that BDO South Africa Incorporated (BDO), and 
Kathryn Luck as designated auditor, is hereby appointed as 
the auditor to the company for the ensuing year.”

Explanatory note

In terms of the Act, the company, being a public company, 
must have its financial results audited and such auditor 
of the company must each year at the company’s AGM 
be appointed or reappointed, as the case may be, as 
an external auditor. The company’s current external 
auditor is BDO, which has indicated that Kathryn Luck, 
who is a partner of the firm and a registered auditor and 
accredited with the JSE in accordance with the JSE Listings 
Requirements, will undertake the audit.

The company’s audit and risk committee has recommended 
that BDO be reappointed as the auditor of the company for 
the ensuing year and to note that the individual registered 
auditor who will undertake the audit during the financial 
year ending 31 March 2020 is Kathryn Luck.

5. Ordinary resolution number 3: 
Appointment of audit and risk committee
5.1 Ordinary resolution number 3.1: Election of 

Loganathan Govender as member of the 
audit and risk committee

“Resolved that Loganathan Govender be and is 
hereby appointed to the audit and risk committee 
of the company.”

5.2 Ordinary resolution number 3.2: Election 
of Elias Mphande as member of the audit 
and risk committee

“Resolved that Elias Mphande be and is hereby 
appointed to the audit and risk committee of 
the company.”

5.3 Ordinary resolution number 3.3: Election 
of Rachel Watson as member of the audit 
and risk committee

“Resolved that Rachel Watson be and is hereby 
appointed to the audit and risk committee of 
the company.”

Explanatory note

In terms of the Act, at each AGM an audit and risk 
committee comprising at least three members 
must be elected. It is proposed that the following 
independent non-executive directors be elected as 
members of the audit and risk committee for the 
ensuing year. The board has considered the proposed 

appointment of Loganathan Govender, Elias Mphande 
and Rachel Watson and recommends that they be 
appointed (or reappointed, as the case may be) to the 
audit and risk committee. The appointment of each 
member of the audit and risk committee will be voted 
on separately.

The appointment of Elias Mphande and Rachel Watson 
to the audit and risk committee is subject to the 
approval of resolutions 1.2 and 1.3 above.

Brief CVs of the members are on page 8 of the 
integrated annual report, of which this notice of AGM 
forms part.

6. Ordinary resolution number 4: General 
authority over authorised but unissued 
shares
“Resolved that, as required by the company’s MOI and 
subject to the provisions of the Act and the JSE Listings 
Requirements, the authorised but unissued shares in the 
company be and are hereby placed under the control of 
the directors, subject to the provisions of the Act, the MOI 
and the JSE Listings Requirements, as presently constituted 
and which may be amended from time to time, and 
provided that such authority may not, in the aggregate, 
in any one financial year, exceed 5%, being 3 190 512 
ordinary shares and 18 977 164 N ordinary shares, of the 
aggregate number of shares of the relevant class of shares 
in issue (excluding treasury shares), and such authority to 
endure until the next AGM of the company (whereupon 
this authority shall lapse, unless it is renewed at the 
aforementioned AGM), provided that it shall not extend 
beyond 15 (fifteen) months of the date of this meeting until 
the next AGM.”

Explanatory note

In terms of the company’s MOI, read with the JSE Listings 
Requirements, the shareholders of the company may 
authorise the directors to, inter alia, issue any authorised 
but unissued ordinary shares and/or grant options over 
them on such terms and conditions and to such persons 
whether they be shareholders or not, as the directors in their 
discretion deem fit. 

The authority will be subject to the provisions of the Act and 
the JSE Listings Requirements. The board has decided to seek 
annual renewal of this authority from the shareholders of the 
company in accordance with best practice. The board has 
no current plans to make use of this authority (other than in 
terms of the eMedia Holdings employee share scheme), but 
wishes to ensure, by having this authority in place, that the 
company retains its flexibility in managing the group’s capital 
resources and to enable the company to take advantage of 
any business opportunity that may arise in the future.
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7. Non-binding advisory votes: Advisory 
endorsement of the remuneration policy 
and implementation report
7.1 Non-binding advisory vote 1: Remuneration 

policy

“Resolved, by way of a non-binding advisory vote, that 
the company’s remuneration policy accompanying this 
notice of AGM be accepted and endorsed.”

7.2 Non-binding advisory vote 2: Remuneration 
implementation report

“Resolved, by way of a non-binding advisory vote, that 
the company’s implementation report accompanying 
this notice of AGM be accepted and endorsed.”

Explanatory note

In terms of part 5.4, principle 14 (recommended 
practice 37) of King lV, the company’s remuneration 
policy and implementation report should be tabled 
to shareholders for separate non-binding advisory 
votes at the AGM. This vote enables shareholders 
to express their views on the remuneration policies 
adopted and on their implementation. Furthermore, 
King lV recommends that the remuneration policy 
should record the measures that the board commits 
to in the event that either the remuneration policy or 
the implementation report, or both, have been voted 
against by 25% (twenty-five percent) or more of the 
voting rights exercised by the shareholders.

The shareholders are requested to separately endorse 
the company's remuneration policy on page 32 and 
the implementation report on page 32 to 34 in the 
remuneration report, by way of separate non-binding 
advisory votes.

8. Special resolution number 1: General 
authority to issue shares, options and 
convertible securities for cash
“Resolved that, subject to the passing of ordinary resolution 
number 4, the provisions of the Act and the provisions of 
the JSE Listings Requirements, the directors be and are 
hereby authorised to allot and issue shares of the company 
(or to issue options or convertible securities convertible into 
ordinary shares) for cash to such person or persons, on such 
terms and conditions as they may deem fit, subject to the 
following:

• The securities shall be of a class already in issue, or 
convertible into a class already in issue;

• The securities shall be issued to public shareholders 
as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements and 
not to related parties as defined in the JSE Listings 
Requirements;

• Ordinary shares which are the subject of general 
issues for cash, in the aggregate, may not exceed 
5% (five percent) of the company’s relevant number 
of ordinary shares in issue as at the date of this notice, 
constituting 3 190 512;

• Any number of ordinary shares issued under the 
authority must be deducted from the number of ordinary 
shares authorised immediately above; 

• The maximum discount at which the shares may be 
issued shall be 10% (ten percent) of the weighted 
average traded price of the shares of the company over 
the 30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the 
price of the issue is determined or agreed by the directors 
of the company; and

• The company shall publish such announcements (if any) 
as may be required by the JSE Listings Requirements 
pursuant to the issue of shares under this authority.

Requirements pursuant to the issue of shares under this 
authority and the authority hereby granted will be valid until 
the company’s next AGM provided that it will not extend 
beyond 15 (fifteen) months from the date on which this 
resolution is passed.”

Explanatory note

In terms of ordinary resolution number 4, the shareholders 
authorise the directors to allot and issue a portion of 
the authorised but unissued shares, as the directors in 
their discretion think fit. The existing general authority to 
issue shares for cash granted by the shareholders at the 
previous AGM, held on 22 October 2018, will expire at this 
AGM, unless renewed. The authority will be subject to the 
provisions of the Act and the JSE Listings Requirements. 
The aggregate number of ordinary shares capable of being 
allotted and issued for cash are limited as set out in the 
resolution. The directors consider it advantageous to renew 
this authority to enable the company to take advantage of 
any business opportunity that may arise in future.

Notice of annual general meeting continued
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9. Special resolution number 2: Approval of 
annual fees to be paid to non-executive 
directors
“To approve that, for the period 1 October 2019 until the 
date of the next AGM of the company, the remuneration 
payable to non-executive directors of the company for 
their services as directors is as follows:” 

Type of fee

Current fee 
(excluding

 VAT) 
R’000

New 
proposed fee 

(excluding
 VAT) 

R’000

Non-executive director 126.0 132.6
Member – audit and risk 
committee

51.5 54.2

Member – remuneration 
committee

47.0 49.4

Member – social and ethics 
committee

Nil Nil

Explanatory note

In terms of section 66(8) of the Act, the company 
may pay remuneration to its directors for their services 
as directors. In terms of section 66(9) of the Act the 
remuneration may only be paid to directors for their 
services as directors in accordance with a special resolution 
approved by the holders during the previous 2 (two) years.

10. Special resolution number 3: General 
authority to repurchase company shares
“Resolved that the company hereby approves, as a general 
approval contemplated in paragraph 5.72 of section 5 
of the JSE Listings Requirements, the repurchase by the 
company or any of its subsidiaries from time to time of 
the issued shares of the company, upon such terms and 
conditions and in such amounts as the directors of the 
company may from time to time determine, but subject 
to the MOI, the provisions of the Act and the JSE Listings 
Requirements, as presently constituted and which may be 
amended from time to time, and provided further that:

• acquisitions by the company and its subsidiaries of 
shares in the capital of the company in terms of this 
general authority to repurchase shares may not, in 
the aggregate, exceed in any one financial year 20% 
(twenty percent) of the company’s issued share capital 
of the class of the repurchased shares from the date of 
the grant of this general authority;

• any such repurchase shall be effected through the 
order book operated by the JSE trading system, without 
any prior understanding or arrangement between the 
company and the counterparty;

• the company (or any subsidiary) is authorised to do so 
in terms of its MOI;

• this general authority shall only be valid until the 
company’s next AGM, provided that it shall not extend 
beyond 15 (fifteen) months from the date of passing of 
this special resolution;

• in determining the price at which the company’s shares 
are repurchased by the company or its subsidiaries 
in terms of this general authority, the maximum 
premium at which such shares may be acquired may 
not be greater than 10% (ten percent) above the 
weighted average of the market price at which such 
shares are traded on the JSE for the 5 (five) business 
days immediately preceding the date the repurchase 
transaction is effected;

• at any point in time, the company may only appoint 
one agent to effect any repurchase(s) on the 
company’s behalf;

• the company or its subsidiaries may not repurchase 
shares during a prohibited period as defined in 
paragraph 3.67 of the JSE Listings Requirements 
unless there is a repurchase programme in place and 
the dates and quantities of shares to be repurchased 
during the relevant period are fixed and full details 
thereof have been submitted to the JSE in writing prior 
commencement of the prohibited period. The company 
must instruct an independent third party, which makes 
its investment decisions in relation to the company’s 
securities independently of, and uninfluenced by, the 
company, prior to the commencement of the prohibited 
period, to execute the repurchase programme 
submitted to the JSE;

• an announcement will be published as soon as the 
company and/or its subsidiaries has/have acquired 
shares in terms of this authority constituting, on a 
cumulative basis, 3% (three percent) of the initial 
number of shares of the class of shares in issue at 
the time that this general authority is granted by the 
shareholders, and each time the company acquires 
a further 3% (three percent) of the initial number 
thereafter, which announcement(s) shall contain full 
details of such repurchases as required in terms of the 
JSE Listings Requirements; and

• a repurchase shall only be effected if the board of 
directors has at the time of the repurchase passed 
a resolution authorising the repurchase in terms of 
sections 46 and 48 of the Act and it reasonably appears 
that the company and its subsidiaries have satisfied the 
solvency and liquidity test and that, since the test was 
performed, there have been no material changes to the 
financial position of the company and its subsidiaries.”



eMedia Holdings integrated annual report 201964

Explanatory note

The reason for special resolution number 3 is to grant 
the directors of the company and/or subsidiaries of the 
company a general authority in terms of the Act and 
the JSE Listings Requirements to acquire the company’s 
ordinary shares, subject to the terms and conditions set 
out in the special resolution. The directors require that 
such general authority should be implemented in order to 
facilitate the repurchase of the company’s ordinary shares 
in circumstances where the directors consider this to be 
appropriate and in the best interest of the company and 
its shareholders.

Directors’ statement

Pursuant to and in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, 
the board of directors of the company hereby states that:

• it is its intention to utilise the general authority to 
acquire shares in the company if at some future date 
the cash resources of the company are in excess of its 
requirements and the opportunity presents itself to 
do so during the year, which the board deems to be in 
the best interest of the company and its shareholders, 
taking prevailing marketing conditions and other 
factors into account;

• in determining the method by which the company 
intends to acquire its shares, the maximum number 
of shares to be acquired and the date on which such 
repurchase will take place, the directors of the company 
will only make the repurchase if at the time of the 
repurchase they are of the opinion that the following 
conditions have been and will be met:

 > the company and the group will be able to pay their 
debts for a period of 12 (twelve) months after the 
date of this notice of AGM;

 > the assets of the company and the group are to 
be in excess of the liabilities of the company and 
group for a period of 12 (twelve) months after the 
date of this notice of AGM (for this purpose the 
assets and liabilities are recognised and measured 
in accordance with the accounting policies used in 
the audited financial statements for the year ended 
31 March 2019);

 > the share capital and reserves of the company and 
the group will be adequate for ordinary business 
purposes for a period of 12 (twelve) months after 
the date of this notice of AGM;

 > the working capital of the company and the group 
are adequate for the ordinary business purposes 
for a period of 12 (twelve) months after the date 
of approval of this notice of AGM; and

 > resolution being passed by the board that it 
authorised the repurchase of shares, that the 
company and its subsidiaries have passed the 
solvency and liquidity test and that since the test 
was performed there have been no material changes 
to the financial position of the group. The authority 
granted in terms of this special resolution number 3 
is limited to paragraph 5.72(a), (c), (d) and paragraph 
5.68 of the JSE Listings Requirements.

The following additional information, some of which may 
appear elsewhere in the integrated annual report of which 
this notice forms part, is provided in terms of the JSE Listings 
Requirements for purposes of this general authority:

• Major beneficial shareholders – pages 15 and 16 of the 
document of which this notice of AGM forms part;

• Share capital of the company – page 15 of the 
document of which this notice of AGM forms part; and

• Material changes – there have been no material 
changes in the financial or trading position of eMedia 
and its subsidiaries between 31 March 2019 and the 
date of the notice of AGM.

11. Ordinary resolution number 5: Directors’ 
authority to implement company 
resolutions
“Resolved that each and every director of the company 
be and is hereby authorised to do all such things and sign 
all such documents as may be necessary for or incidental 
to the implementation of the resolutions passed at this 
meeting.”

12. To transact such other business which may 
be transacted at an AGM

By order of the board 

29 July 2019
Cape Town

Notice of annual general meeting continued



I/We,  (name in full)

of address 

being a registered holder of  ordinary shares and  N ordinary shares in the company, hereby appoint

1.  or failing him/her

2.  or failing him/her

3.  or failing him/her

the chairperson of the meeting, as my/our proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting of the 
company to be held at 10:00 on 12 September 2019 at the offices of HCI, Suite 801, 76 Regent Road, Sea Point, 8005, Cape Town 
and at any adjournment thereof as follows:

Resolution Description For Against Abstain

Appointment of directors

Ordinary resolution number 1.1 Election of director: JA Copelyn 

Ordinary resolution number 1.2 Election of director: VE Mphande

Ordinary resolution number 1.3 Election of director: RD Watson

Ordinary resolution number 1.4 Election of director: MK Sherrif

Ordinary resolution number 2 Reappointment of auditors: BDO South Africa Incorporated

Appointment of audit and risk committee

Ordinary resolution number 3.1 Appointment of audit and risk committee member:  
L Govender

Ordinary resolution number 3.2 Appointment of audit and risk committee member:  
VE Mphande

Ordinary resolution number 3.3 Appointment of audit and risk committee member:  
RD Watson

Ordinary resolution number 4 General authority over authorised but unissued shares

Ordinary resolution number 5 Directors’ authority to implement company resolutions

Non-binding advisory votes

Non-binding advisory vote 1 Advisory endorsement of remuneration policy

Non-binding advisory vote 2 Advisory endorsement of remuneration implementation report

Special resolutions

Special resolution number 1 General authority to issue shares, options and convertible 
securities for cash

Special resolution number 2 Approval of annual fees to be paid to non-executive directors

Special resolution number 3 General authority to repurchase company shares

Indicate instructions to proxy by way of a cross (X) in the space provided above (100 votes per ordinary share and one vote per 
N ordinary share).

Unless otherwise instructed my proxy may vote as he/she thinks fit.

Signed this  day of  2019. 

Signature 

Assisted by me (where applicable) 

eMedia Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa) (Registration number 1968/011249/06)
Ordinary shares (share code: EMH • IZIN: ZAE000208898) N ordinary shares (share code: EMN • IZIN: ZAE000209524)  
(eMedia Holdings or the company or the group)

Form of proxy



1. A form of proxy is only to be completed by those shareholders 
who are:

• holding shares in certificated form; or
• recorded in the sub-register in dematerialised electronic 

form in “own name”.

2. If you have already dematerialised your shares through a 
Central Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) or broker, other 
than with “own name” registration, and wish to attend the 
annual general meeting, you must request your CSDP or broker 
to provide you with a letter of representation or you must 
instruct your CSDP or broker to vote by way of proxy on your 
behalf in terms of the agreement entered into by yourself and 
the CSDP or broker.

3. A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is 
entitled to appoint an individual as a proxy, who need not be 
a shareholder of the company, to attend, participate in and 
vote at a shareholders’ meeting on the shareholder’s behalf, 
and may appoint more than one proxy to exercise voting rights 
attached to different securities held by the shareholder.

4. The proxy may delegate his/her authority to act on the 
shareholder’s behalf to another person, subject to any 
restriction set out in this form of proxy.

5. Every person present and entitled to vote at the meeting as 
a shareholder or as a proxy or as a representative of a body 
corporate shall, on a show of hands, have one vote only, 
irrespective of the number of shares such a person holds or 
represents, but in the event of a poll, a shareholder shall be 
entitled to that proportion of the total votes in the company 
which aggregate amount of the nominal value of the shares 
held by such shareholder bears to the aggregate amount of the 
nominal value of all shares issued by the company.

6. Please insert the relevant number of shares/votes and indicate 
with an X in the appropriate spaces on the face thereof, how 
you wish your votes to be cast. If you return this form duly 
signed without specific directions, the proxy will vote or abstain 
from voting at his/her discretion.

7. A deletion of any printed details and the completion of any 
blank space/s need not be signed or initialled. Any alteration 
must be initialled.

8. The chairperson of the annual general meeting shall be entitled 
to decline to accept the authority of the signatory under a 
power of attorney, or on behalf of a company, unless the power 
of attorney or authority is produced.

9. The signatory may insert the name of any person/s that the 
signatory wishes to appoint as his/her proxy, in the blank 
space/s provided for that purpose.

10. When there are joint holders of shares and if more than one 
such joint holder be present or represented, then the person 
whose name stands first in the register in respect of such shares 
or his/her proxy, as the case may be, shall alone be entitled to 
vote in respect thereof.

11. A minor should be assisted by his parents or legal guardian 
unless the relevant documents establishing his legal capacity 
are produced.

12. The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not 
preclude the signatory from attending the annual general 
meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat to the 
exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof should such 
signatory wish to do so.

13. A shareholder’s instructions must be indicated by the insertion 
of a cross, or where applicable, the relevant number of votes 
exercisable by the shareholder, in the appropriate box of this 
form of proxy.

14. If the signatory does not indicate how he/she wishes to vote 
in the appropriate place/s on the face hereof in respect of the 
resolution, his/her proxy shall be entitled to vote as he/she 
deems fit in respect of the resolutions.

15. If the shareholding is not indicated on the form of proxy, 
the proxy will be deemed to be authorised to vote the total 
shareholding.

16. The chairperson of the general meeting may reject or accept any 
form of proxy which is completed other than in accordance with 
these instructions, provided that he is satisfied as to the manner 
in which a shareholder wishes to vote.

17. The appointment of the proxy or proxies will be suspended at any 
time and to the extent that the shareholder chooses to act directly 
and in person in the exercise of any of the shareholder’s rights as a 
shareholder at the annual general meeting.

18. The appointment of your proxy is revocable unless you expressly 
state otherwise in this form of proxy. As the appointment of 
the proxy is revocable, the shareholder may revoke the proxy 
appointment by (i) cancelling it in writing, or making a later 
inconsistent appointment of a proxy, and (ii) delivering a copy 
of the revocation instrument to the proxy, and to the company. 
Please note the revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes 
a complete and final cancellation of the shareholder’s proxy’s 
authority to act on the shareholder’s behalf as of the later of 
(i) the date stated in the revocation instrument, if any, or (ii) the 
date on which the revocation instrument was delivered to the 
company and the proxy as aforesaid.

19. If the proxy form has been delivered to the company, as long as 
that appointment remains in effect, any notice that is required 
by the Companies Act or the company’s memorandum 
of incorporation to be delivered by the company to the 
shareholder will be delivered by the company to the shareholder 
or the shareholder’s proxy or proxies, if the shareholder has 
directed the company to do so in writing and paid a reasonable 
fee charged by the company for doing so.

20. The appointment of the proxy remains valid only until the end 
of the relevant meeting or any adjournment or postponement 
thereof or for a period of one year, whichever is shortest, 
unless it is revoked by the shareholder before then on the basis 
set out above.

21. Forms of proxy must be returned by the shareholders concerned 
to the registered office of the company or the transfer 
secretaries, Computershare Investor Services Proprietary 
Limited, Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, 
2196 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) so as to be 
received, for administrative purposes, by no later than 10:00 on 
11 September 2019.

Notes to form of proxy



Corporate
information
eMedia Holdings Limited
The company’s shares are listed under the media sector of the 
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Company registration number
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Directors
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^Independent.
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